
         

 

 

AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP 
COMMUNITY DISTRICT 

 

COLLIER COUNTY 
REGULAR BOARD MEETING 

& PUBLIC HEARING 
SEPTEMBER 12, 2023 

9:00 A.M. 
 

 

 

 

 

Special District Services, Inc. 
The Oaks Center 

2501A Burns Road 
Palm Beach Gardens, FL 33410 

www.avemariastewardshipcd.org 
561.630.4922 Telephone 
877.SDS.4922 Toll Free 
561.630.4923 Facsimile 



 

AGENDA 
AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT 

REGULAR BOARD MEETING & PUBLIC HEARING 
September 12, 2023 

9:00 a.m. 
Ave Maria Master Association (office/fitness center) 

5080 Annunciation Circle, Unit 101 
Ave Maria, Florida 34142 

TO JOIN VIA ZOOM: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/84351784590 
MEETING ID: 843 5178 4590 DIAL IN AT: 1-929-436-2866 

 
A. Call to Order 

B. Pledge of Allegiance 

C. Invocation 

D. Proof of Publication……………………………………………………………………………………Page 1 

E. Establish a Quorum 

F. Additions or Deletions to Agenda  

G. Comments from the Public for Items Not on the Agenda 

H. Approval of Minutes 

1. August 1, 2023 Regular Board Meeting Minutes………………………………………………....Page 2 

I. Public Hearing – Fiscal Year 2023/2024 Final Budget 

1. Proof of Publication……………………………………………………………………………….Page 9  

2. Receive Public Comments on Fiscal Year 2023/2024 Final Budget 

3. Consider Resolution No. 2023-13 – Adopting a Fiscal Year 2023/2024 Final Budget…………..Page 10 

4. Consider Resolution No. 2023-14 – Adopting an Annual Assessment Resolution for Fiscal 
Year 2023/2024…………………………………………………………………………………....Page 33 

5. Consider Resolution No. 2023-15 – Adopting a Fiscal Year 2023/2024 Master Irrigation 
Utility System Budget……………………………………………………………………………..Page 38 

J. Public Hearing – Uniform Method 

1. Proof of Publication………………………………………………………………………………..Page 41 

2. Receive Public Comments on Adopting a Uniform Method of Collection for Expansion Area 

3. Consider Resolution No. 2023-16 – Adopting a Uniform Method of Collection for Expansion 
Area………………………………………………………………………………………………..Page 42 

K. Public Hearing – Amended Parking and Towing Rules 

1. Proof of Publication……………………………………………………………………………….Page 50 

2. Receive Public Comments on Adopting Amended Parking & Towing Policies 

3. Consider Resolution No. 2023-17 – Adopting Amended Parking & Towing Policies…………...Page 52 

L. Old Business 

1. AMSCD Projects Update………………………………………………………………………….Page 59 

M. New Business 

1. Consider Approval of Fiscal Year 2023/2024 Developer Funding Agreement…………………...Page 61 

 Audience Comments 



 

2. Consider Resolution No. 2023-18 – Ratifying Sale of Series 2023 Bonds – Phase 4 Master 
Improvements……………………………………………………………………………………...Page 66 

 Audience Comments 

3. Consider Approval of Supplementary Disclosure of Public Financing…………………………....Page 68 

 Audience Comments 

4. Consider Resolution No. 2023-19 – Awarding Landscape and Irrigation Maintenance Services 
Contract……………………………………………………………………………………………Page 87 

 Audience Comments 

5. Consider Approval of Amended & Restated Facility Maintenance Agreement – Ave National…Page 89 

 Audience Comments 

6. Consider Resolution No. 2023-20 – Adopting Construction and Maintenance Services 
Prequalification Criteria and Procedures and Setting a Public Hearing…………………………..Page 124 

 Audience Comments 

7. Consider Resolution No. 2023-21 – Adopting a Fiscal Year 2023/2024 Meeting Schedule……..Page 150 

 Audience Comments 

8. Consider Acceptance of Bill of Sale for Vehicles and Authorizing Staff to Take 
Administrative Actions Finalizing Title and Insurance…………………………………………...Page 153 

 Audience Comments 

9. Discussion Regarding Letter in Support of Collier Mosquito Control District Legislation………Page 154 

 Audience Comments 

10. Consider Appointment of Audit Committee & Approval of Evaluation Criteria…………………Page 155 

 Audience Comments 

N. Administrative Matters 

1. Legal Report 

2. Engineer Report 

3. Manager’s Report 

a. Financials…………………………………………………………………..……...............Page 159 

O. Board Members Comments 

P. Adjourn 



ND-GCI1095319-01

AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING TO CONSIDER THE ADOPTION OF THE FISCAL YEAR 2023/2024 
BUDGET; NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING TO CONSIDER THE IMPOSITION OF OPERATIONS AND 
MAINTENANCE SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS, ADOPTION OF AN ASSESSMENT ROLL, AND THE 
LEVY, COLLECTION, AND ENFORCEMENT OF THE SAME; AND NOTICE OF REGULAR BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS’ MEETING.  

Upcoming Public Hearings, and Regular Meeting

The Board of Supervisors (“Board”) for the Ave Maria Stewardship Community District (“District”) 
will hold the following two public hearings and a regular meeting: 

DATE: September 12, 2023
TIME: 9:00 a.m.

LOCATION:   Ave Maria Master Association 5080 Annunciation Circle, 
Unite 101 Ave Maria, Florida 34142

The first public hearing is being held pursuant to Chapter 197, Florida Statutes, and Chapter 
2004-461, Laws of Florida, to receive public comment and objections on the District’s proposed 
budget (“Proposed Budget”) for the fiscal year beginning October 1, 2023 and ending September 
30, 2024 (“Fiscal Year 2023/2024”). The second public hearing is being held pursuant to pursuant 
to Chapter 197, Florida Statutes, and Chapter 2004-461, Laws of Florida, to consider the imposition 
of operations and maintenance special assessments (“O&M Assessments”) upon the lands located 
within the District, to fund the Proposed Budget for Fiscal Year 2023/2024; to consider the adoption 
of an assessment roll; and, to provide for the levy, collection, and enforcement of assessments. At the 
conclusion of the hearings, the Board will, by resolution, adopt a budget and levy O&M Assessments 
as finally approved by the Board. A Board meeting of the District will also be held where the Board 
may consider any other District business.

Description of Assessments

The District imposes O&M Assessments on benefitted property within the District for the purpose 
of funding the District’s general administrative, operations, and maintenance budget. Pursuant to 
pursuant to Chapter 197, Florida Statutes, and Chapter 2004-461, Laws of Florida, a description of 
the services to be funded by the O&M Assessments, and the properties to be improved and benefitted 
from the O&M Assessments, are all set forth in the Proposed Budget.  A geographic depiction of 
the property potentially subject to the proposed O&M Assessments is identified in the map attached 
hereto.  The table below shows the schedule of the proposed O&M Assessments, which are subject 
to change at the hearing:

Land Use Total # 
of Units 
Platted

Per Unit 
Type

Fiscal Year 
2022-2023 
O&M As-
sessment

Proposed 
O&M As-
sessment 
increase due 
to CPI (5%)

Proposed 
Fiscal Year 
2023-2024 
Annual O&M 
Assessment 
(including 
collection costs 
/ early payment 
discounts)

Multi Family / Attached 414 Unit $457.98 $22.90 $480.88
Single Family / Detached 3,719 Unit $457.98 $22.90 $480.88
ALF Apartments 0 Unit $29.88 $1.49 $31.37
Apartments 0 Unit $108.27 $5.41 $113.68
MB Low Affordable Housing 48 Unit $68.75 $3.44 $72.19
Retail/Entertainment/Service 140,442 Sq. Ft. $0.52 $0.03 $0.55
Professional Offices 51,529 Sq. Ft. $0.33 $0.02 $0.35
Light Manufacturing 508,807 Sq. Ft. $0.22 $0.01 $0.23
Hotel 0 Room $386.69 $19.33 $406.02
Medical Facilities 10,904 Sq. Ft. $1.07 $0.05 $1.12
Institutional – AM University 1,234 Student $23.48 $1.17 $24.65
Private K-12 School 377 Student $36.68 $1.83 $38.51

The proposed O&M Assessments as stated include collection costs and/or early payment 
discounts, which Collier County (“County”) may impose on assessments that are collected on 
the County tax bill.  Moreover, pursuant to Chapter 197, Florida Statutes, and Chapter 2004-461, 
Laws of Florida, the lien amount shall serve as the “maximum rate” authorized by law for O&M 
Assessments, such that no assessment hearing shall be held or notice provided in future years unless 
the assessments are proposed to be increased or another criterion within Section 197.3632(4), 
Florida Statutes, is met. Note that the O&M Assessments do not include any debt service assessments 
previously levied by the District and due to be collected for Fiscal Year 2023/2024.  

For Fiscal Year 2023/2024, the District intends to have the County tax collector collect the 
assessments imposed on certain developed property and will directly collect the assessments 
imposed on the remaining benefitted property by sending out a bill prior to, or during, November 
2023.  It is important to pay your assessment because failure to pay will cause a tax certificate to 
be issued against the property which may result in loss of title, or for direct billed assessments, may 
result in a foreclosure action, which also may result in a loss of title.  The District’s decision to collect 
assessments on the tax roll or by direct billing does not preclude the District from later electing to 
collect those or other assessments in a different manner at a future time.  

Additional Provisions

The public hearings and meeting are open to the public and will be conducted in accordance 
with the provisions of Florida law.  A copy of the Proposed Budget, proposed assessment roll, and the 
agenda for the hearings and meeting may be obtained at the offices of the District Manager, located 
at 2501A Burns Road, Palm Beach Gardens, Florida 33410, Ph: (561) 630-4922 (“District Manager’s 
Office”), during normal business hours.  The public hearings and meeting may be continued to a date, 
time, and place to be specified on the record at the hearings or meeting.  There may be occasions 
when staff or board members may participate by speaker telephone.  

 Any person requiring special accommodations at this meeting because of a disability 
or physical impairment should contact the District Manager’s Office at least forty-eight (48) hours 
prior to the meeting.  If you are hearing or speech impaired, please contact the Florida Relay Service 
by dialing 7-1-1, or 1-800-955-8771 (TTY) / 1-800-955-8770 (Voice), for aid in contacting the District 
Manager’s Office.

Please note that all affected property owners have the right to appear at the public hearings and 
meeting and may also file written objections with the District Manager’s Office within twenty days 
of publication of this notice.  Each person who decides to appeal any decision made by the Board 
with respect to any matter considered at the public hearings or meeting is advised that person will 
need a record of proceedings and that accordingly, the person may need to ensure that a verbatim 
record of the proceedings is made, including the testimony and evidence upon which such appeal 
is to be based.

Andrew Karmeris
District Manager

AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT

WWW.AVEMARIASTEWARDSHIPCD.ORG

PUBLISH:  NAPLES DAILY NEWS    08/18/23 & 08/25/23

Page 1



Page 1 of 5 
 

AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT 
REGULAR BOARD MEETING  
Ave Maria Master Association 

5080 Annunciation Circle, Unit 101  
Ave Maria, Florida 34142 

or 
TO JOIN VIA ZOOM: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/83198051068 

MEETING ID: 831 9805 1068  DIAL IN AT: 1 929 436 2866 
August 1, 2023 

 
 

A. CALL TO ORDER 
 
The August 1, 2023, Regular Board Meeting of the Ave Maria Stewardship Community District (the 
“District”) was called to order at 9:00 a.m. in the Ave Maria Master Association located at 5080 
Annunciation Circle, Unit 101, Ave Maria, Florida 34142.  The meeting was also available via the 
Zoom information indicated above.  
 
B. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE  
 
C. INVOCATION 
 
Mr. Klucik led the meeting in prayer. 
 
D. PROOF OF PUBLICATION 
 
Proof of publication was presented indicating that notice of the Regular Board Meeting had been 
published in the Naples Daily News on July 24, 2023, as legally required. 
 
E. ESTABLISH A QUORUM 
 
A quorum was established with the following: 
 
Board of Supervisors 
Chairman Thomas Peek Present 
Vice Chair Jay Roth Present 
Supervisor Jeff Sonalia Present 
Supervisor Tom DiFlorio Present 
Supervisor Robb Klucik Present 

 
District Staff in attendance were:   
 
District Manager Todd Wodraska Special District Services, Inc. 

Director of Operations Sal D’Angelo  Special District Services, Inc. 

General Counsel  Alyssa Willson  Kutak Rock, LLP 

Page 2



Page 2 of 5 
 

District Engineer Ted Tryka  Agnoli Barber & Brundage, 
Inc. 

Bond Counsel Cynthia Wilhelm Nabors Giblin & Nickerson 

Methodology Consultant Russ Weyer Real EstatEconometrics 

 
Also present were the following: 
 
Commissioner Bill McDaniel, Kim Twiss, Donnie Diaz, and several members of the public. 
 
There were also many others present via Zoom. 
 
F. ADDITIONS OR DELETIONS TO THE AGENDA 
 
None.  
 
G. COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC FOR ITEMS NOT ON THE AGENDA 
 
None. 
 
H. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
 1. July 11, 2023, Regular Board Meeting 
 
The minutes of the July 11, 2023, Regular Board Meeting were presented for consideration.   
 
Mr. Sanford requested a clarification on page 4 paragraph 4 that when he inquired about non-
conforming signs on AMSCD roads that he was directed to report such issues to the Collier County 
Code Enforcement. 
 
A motion was made by Mr. Roth, seconded by Mr. DiFlorio and passed unanimously approving the 
minutes of the July 11, 2023, Regular Board Meeting, as amended. 
 
I. OLD BUSINESS 
  

1. AMSCD Projects List  
 
Staff reviewed the list briefly. 
Mr. Tryka reported that the re-striping of traffic marks was a priority.  Mr. Klucik suggested that the 
project needed to happen very soon as the University and school is about to begin which will increase 
traffic and make it more difficult. 
 
Mrs. Willson provided an update on the gate at The National and noted that the developer has 
requested installing a second gate at an alternative entrance to the community.  There was a lengthy 
discussion about the gate and general dismay that the gate does not consistently allow the public 
unfettered access. 
 

Page 3



Page 3 of 5 
 

Mr. Strysik asked that his comments included in the minutes stating “there should be installed at the 
entrance of The National stating that the road is open to the public and that Board should not allow 
the developer to install a second gate”. 
 
After a lengthy debate about the gate Chairman Peek stated this item is tabled from discussion until 
Mr. Genson has an opportunity to meet with the developers to discuss the District’s concerns.  
 
J. NEW BUSINESS 
  

1. Presentation of the Town of Ave Maria Stewardship Receiving Area Updated Sub-
Master Assessment Methodology 
 

Mr. Russ Weyer presented the report. 
 
Mr. Klucik had a question about land on the map in the report that was at the corner of the AMSCD 
that he thought was owned by the Arch Diocese of Venice.  Mr. Sonolia explained that the map was 
a zoning map and since that land was not owned by Ave Maria Development the future land use was 
unknown. 
 

2. Consider Resolution No. 2023-09 – Adopting a Revised Town of Ave Maria Stewardship 
Receiving Area Updated Sub-Master Assessment Methodology Report 2023 

 
Staff recommended approval. 
 
A motion was made by Mr. Roth, seconded by Mr. DiFlorio and passed unanimously approving 
Resolution No. 2023-09 – Adopting a Revised Town of Ave Maria Stewardship Receiving Area 
Updated Sub-Master Assessment Methodology Report 2023 
 
 3.  Presentation of the Series 2023 Master Bonds Supplemental to the Fifth Sub-Master 
Supplemental Assessment Report 
 
Mr. Weyer presented the report. 
 

4.  Consider Resolution No. 2023-10 – Adopting the Supplemental Assessment 
Resolution for Series 2023 Master Bonds 

 
Staff recommended approval. 
 
A motion was made by Mr. Roth, seconded by Mr. DiFlorio and passed unanimously approving 
Resolution No. 2023-10 – Adopting the Supplemental Assessment Resolution for Series 2023 
Master Bonds 
 

5. Consider Resolution No. 2023-11 – Expressing Intent to Utilize the Uniform 
Method for Purposes of Setting Public Hearing 

 
Staff recommended approval. 
 

Page 4



Page 4 of 5 
 

A motion was made by Mr. Roth, seconded by Mr. DiFlorio and passed unanimously approving 
Resolution No. 2023-11 – Expressing Intent to Utilize the Uniform Method for Purposes of Setting 
Public Hearing. 
 

6. Consider Resolution No. 2023-12 – Setting a Hearing to Adopt Amended Parking 
& Towing Policies 

 
Staff recommended approval noting the hearing is set for the meeting in September. 
Mr. Strysik asked about how much the District can recover is legal and administrative fees.  Mrs. 
Willson responded that there is a statutory limit of $1,000 fine. 
 
A motion was made by Mr. Roth, seconded by Mr. DiFlorio and passed unanimously approving 
Resolution No. 2023-12 – Setting a Hearing to Adopt Amended Parking & Towing Policies 
 
K. ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS 
 
 1.  Legal Report  
 
Ms. Willson had nothing further to report.     
 
 2.  Engineer’s Report 
 
Mr. Tryka had nothing further to report.   
 
 3.  Manager’s Report 
 
Mr. Wodraska introduced Sal D’Angelo the new Director of Operations.  Mr. D’Angelo is an 
employee of Special District Services, Inc. but will be onsite at Ave Maria along with a team that will 
be responsible for maintaining the works of the District.   Mr. D’Angelo emphasized his approach is 
to be proactive in tackling issues.  
 
L. BOARD MEMBER COMMENTS 
 
Mr. Klucik had a suggestion that when trees have fruit or seeds that are growing that the maintenance 
team cut the fruit before they fall because when it does it causes stains on roads and sidewalks and 
has an unpleasant odor. 
 
Mr. Roth noted that he is not available for the next meeting scheduled for September 12, 2023. 
  

Page 5



Page 5 of 5 
 

 
M. ADJOURNMENT 
 
There being no further business to come before the Board, the Regular Board Meeting was adjourned 
at 10:36 a.m. by Chairman Peek.  There were no objections. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
________________________________ __________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  Chair/Vice-Chairman 
 

Page 6



AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT 
 

AUGUST 2023 

Project Name Start 
Date 

End 
Date 

Est. Cost % 
Complete 

Responsible 
Party 

Comments 

Anthem Parkway 
Phase 5A (Starts at 
North park to 
Avalon) 

2nd 
Quarter 

2023 

TBD TBD 0% Andrew Karmeris 
(District) 

Permits expected in Sept/Oct 
2023. Ready to commence 
immediately upon permit 

approval.  
Anthem Parkway 
Phase 5B (Will 
include roundabout 
at Pope John Paul) 

3rd 
Quarter 

2023 

TBD TBD 0% Andrew Karmeris 
(District) 

Environmental permits 
expected June 2024 

Apron at Owens 
roundabout 

May 
2023 

TBD TBD 0% Ted Tryka 
 (District) 

To present estimated prices at 
July meeting for Board 

direction  
Additional 
Landscaping on 
Milano 

August 
2023 

Sept 2023 TBD  0% David Genson 
(AMD) 

AMD is working on pricing 
and expected to have a 
proposal at August or 
September meeting.  

Parking on District 
Roads 

01/2023 2nd 
Quarter 

2023 

N/A N/A Andrew Karmeris 
(District Manager) 

 
Kim Twiss (Master 

Association 
Manager) 

Signs have been delivered 
and approximately 40% have 
been installed.  Remainder to 

be installed weather 
permitting during the next 

few weeks.    

Page 7



AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT 
 

Town Core Striping 
and Flashing Signs 

01/2023 7/2023 $188,000 85% Ted Tryka  
(District) 

Striping is awaiting towing 
for access. Four or five spots 

left.  
Flashing Signs on back order. 

Asset Management 
(Placeholder for 
FY24) 

March 
2023 

June 2023 $50,000 FY 23 –  
100% 

David Genson 
(AMD) 

Mapping of roadways, 
sidewalks, curbs, light poles 
are complete.  Budgeting for 
Fiscal Year 2024 to include 

site visits, mapping of 
additional assets such as 

signs, fixtures, etc. 
Reserve Funds 
(Irrigation and 
O&M) 

TBD N/A TBD TBD David Genson 
(AMD) 

Rate Adjustment 
presentation expected at 
Summer 2023 meeting. 

Front Fountain 
(Letters) 

N/A August 
2023 

$22,000 80% Donny Diaz  Fountain is operational.  
Letters contract was 

approved expected to start in 
August 2023.  

 
National Gate 
monitoring 

2023 Ongoing N/A N/A Alyssa Willson 
(District) 

The District continues to 
monitor National Gate 

operation.  Residents have 
been instructed to file 

complaints filed with District 
Manager.  

 

Page 8



ND-GCI1095319-01

AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING TO CONSIDER THE ADOPTION OF THE FISCAL YEAR 2023/2024 
BUDGET; NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING TO CONSIDER THE IMPOSITION OF OPERATIONS AND 
MAINTENANCE SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS, ADOPTION OF AN ASSESSMENT ROLL, AND THE 
LEVY, COLLECTION, AND ENFORCEMENT OF THE SAME; AND NOTICE OF REGULAR BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS’ MEETING.  

Upcoming Public Hearings, and Regular Meeting

The Board of Supervisors (“Board”) for the Ave Maria Stewardship Community District (“District”) 
will hold the following two public hearings and a regular meeting: 

DATE: September 12, 2023
TIME: 9:00 a.m.

LOCATION:   Ave Maria Master Association 5080 Annunciation Circle, 
Unite 101 Ave Maria, Florida 34142

The first public hearing is being held pursuant to Chapter 197, Florida Statutes, and Chapter 
2004-461, Laws of Florida, to receive public comment and objections on the District’s proposed 
budget (“Proposed Budget”) for the fiscal year beginning October 1, 2023 and ending September 
30, 2024 (“Fiscal Year 2023/2024”). The second public hearing is being held pursuant to pursuant 
to Chapter 197, Florida Statutes, and Chapter 2004-461, Laws of Florida, to consider the imposition 
of operations and maintenance special assessments (“O&M Assessments”) upon the lands located 
within the District, to fund the Proposed Budget for Fiscal Year 2023/2024; to consider the adoption 
of an assessment roll; and, to provide for the levy, collection, and enforcement of assessments. At the 
conclusion of the hearings, the Board will, by resolution, adopt a budget and levy O&M Assessments 
as finally approved by the Board. A Board meeting of the District will also be held where the Board 
may consider any other District business.

Description of Assessments

The District imposes O&M Assessments on benefitted property within the District for the purpose 
of funding the District’s general administrative, operations, and maintenance budget. Pursuant to 
pursuant to Chapter 197, Florida Statutes, and Chapter 2004-461, Laws of Florida, a description of 
the services to be funded by the O&M Assessments, and the properties to be improved and benefitted 
from the O&M Assessments, are all set forth in the Proposed Budget.  A geographic depiction of 
the property potentially subject to the proposed O&M Assessments is identified in the map attached 
hereto.  The table below shows the schedule of the proposed O&M Assessments, which are subject 
to change at the hearing:

Land Use Total # 
of Units 
Platted

Per Unit 
Type

Fiscal Year 
2022-2023 
O&M As-
sessment

Proposed 
O&M As-
sessment 
increase due 
to CPI (5%)

Proposed 
Fiscal Year 
2023-2024 
Annual O&M 
Assessment 
(including 
collection costs 
/ early payment 
discounts)

Multi Family / Attached 414 Unit $457.98 $22.90 $480.88
Single Family / Detached 3,719 Unit $457.98 $22.90 $480.88
ALF Apartments 0 Unit $29.88 $1.49 $31.37
Apartments 0 Unit $108.27 $5.41 $113.68
MB Low Affordable Housing 48 Unit $68.75 $3.44 $72.19
Retail/Entertainment/Service 140,442 Sq. Ft. $0.52 $0.03 $0.55
Professional Offices 51,529 Sq. Ft. $0.33 $0.02 $0.35
Light Manufacturing 508,807 Sq. Ft. $0.22 $0.01 $0.23
Hotel 0 Room $386.69 $19.33 $406.02
Medical Facilities 10,904 Sq. Ft. $1.07 $0.05 $1.12
Institutional – AM University 1,234 Student $23.48 $1.17 $24.65
Private K-12 School 377 Student $36.68 $1.83 $38.51

The proposed O&M Assessments as stated include collection costs and/or early payment 
discounts, which Collier County (“County”) may impose on assessments that are collected on 
the County tax bill.  Moreover, pursuant to Chapter 197, Florida Statutes, and Chapter 2004-461, 
Laws of Florida, the lien amount shall serve as the “maximum rate” authorized by law for O&M 
Assessments, such that no assessment hearing shall be held or notice provided in future years unless 
the assessments are proposed to be increased or another criterion within Section 197.3632(4), 
Florida Statutes, is met. Note that the O&M Assessments do not include any debt service assessments 
previously levied by the District and due to be collected for Fiscal Year 2023/2024.  

For Fiscal Year 2023/2024, the District intends to have the County tax collector collect the 
assessments imposed on certain developed property and will directly collect the assessments 
imposed on the remaining benefitted property by sending out a bill prior to, or during, November 
2023.  It is important to pay your assessment because failure to pay will cause a tax certificate to 
be issued against the property which may result in loss of title, or for direct billed assessments, may 
result in a foreclosure action, which also may result in a loss of title.  The District’s decision to collect 
assessments on the tax roll or by direct billing does not preclude the District from later electing to 
collect those or other assessments in a different manner at a future time.  

Additional Provisions

The public hearings and meeting are open to the public and will be conducted in accordance 
with the provisions of Florida law.  A copy of the Proposed Budget, proposed assessment roll, and the 
agenda for the hearings and meeting may be obtained at the offices of the District Manager, located 
at 2501A Burns Road, Palm Beach Gardens, Florida 33410, Ph: (561) 630-4922 (“District Manager’s 
Office”), during normal business hours.  The public hearings and meeting may be continued to a date, 
time, and place to be specified on the record at the hearings or meeting.  There may be occasions 
when staff or board members may participate by speaker telephone.  

 Any person requiring special accommodations at this meeting because of a disability 
or physical impairment should contact the District Manager’s Office at least forty-eight (48) hours 
prior to the meeting.  If you are hearing or speech impaired, please contact the Florida Relay Service 
by dialing 7-1-1, or 1-800-955-8771 (TTY) / 1-800-955-8770 (Voice), for aid in contacting the District 
Manager’s Office.

Please note that all affected property owners have the right to appear at the public hearings and 
meeting and may also file written objections with the District Manager’s Office within twenty days 
of publication of this notice.  Each person who decides to appeal any decision made by the Board 
with respect to any matter considered at the public hearings or meeting is advised that person will 
need a record of proceedings and that accordingly, the person may need to ensure that a verbatim 
record of the proceedings is made, including the testimony and evidence upon which such appeal 
is to be based.

Andrew Karmeris
District Manager

AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT

WWW.AVEMARIASTEWARDSHIPCD.ORG

PUBLISH:  NAPLES DAILY NEWS    08/18/23 & 08/25/23

Page 9



RESOLUTION 2023-13 
 

THE ANNUAL APPROPRIATION RESOLUTION OF THE AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP 
COMMUNITY DISTRICT (“DISTRICT”) RELATING TO THE ANNUAL 
APPROPRIATIONS AND ADOPTING THE BUDGETS FOR THE FISCAL YEAR 
BEGINNING OCTOBER 1, 2023, AND ENDING SEPTEMBER 30, 2024; 
AUTHORIZING BUDGET AMENDMENTS; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the District Manager has, prior to the fifteenth (15th) day in June 2023, 
submitted to the Board of Supervisors (“Board”) of the Ave Maria Stewardship Community 
District (“District”) proposed budgets (“Proposed Budget”) for the fiscal year beginning October 
1, 2023 and ending September 30, 2024 (“Fiscal Year 2023/2024”) along with an explanatory and 
complete financial plan for each fund of the District, pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 2004-
461(4)(6)(b), Laws of Florida; and 
 
 WHEREAS, at least sixty (60) days prior to the adoption of the Proposed Budget, the 
District filed a copy of the Proposed Budget with the local governing authorities having 
jurisdiction over the area included in the District pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 2004-
461(4)(6)(b), Laws of Florida; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board set a public hearing thereon and caused notice of such public 
hearing to be given by publication; and 
 

WHEREAS, the District Manager posted the Proposed Budget on the District’s website at 
least two days before the public hearing; and  

 
 WHEREAS, Chapter 2004-461(4)(6)(b), Laws of Florida, requires that, prior to October 1st 
of each year, the Board, by passage of the Annual Appropriation Resolution, shall adopt a budget 
for the ensuing fiscal year and appropriate such sums of money as the Board deems necessary to 
defray all expenditures of the District during the ensuing fiscal year; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District Manager has prepared a Proposed Budget, whereby the budget 
shall project the cash receipts and disbursements anticipated during a given time period, 
including reserves for contingencies for emergency or other unanticipated expenditures during 
the fiscal year. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE AVE 
MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT: 

 
 SECTION 1. BUDGET 
 

a.  The Board has reviewed the Proposed Budget, a copy of which is on file with the 
office of the District Manager and at the District’s Local Records Office, and hereby 
approves certain amendments thereto, as shown in Section 2 below. 

Page 10



 
b.  The Proposed Budget, attached hereto as Exhibit “A,” as amended by the Board, 

is hereby adopted in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 2004-461(4)(6)(b), 
Laws of Florida (“Adopted Budget”), and incorporated herein by reference; 
provided, however, that the comparative figures contained in the Adopted Budget 
may be subsequently revised as deemed necessary by the District Manager to 
reflect actual revenues and expenditures. 

 
c.  The Adopted Budget, as amended, shall be maintained in the office of the District 

Manager and at the District’s Local Records Office and identified as “The Budget 
for the Ave Maria Stewardship Community District for the Fiscal Year Ending 
September 30, 2024.” 

 
d. The Adopted Budget shall be posted by the District Manager on the District’s 

official website within thirty (30) days after adoption, and shall remain on the 
website for at least 2 years.   

 
 SECTION 2. APPROPRIATIONS 
 
 There is hereby appropriated out of the revenues of the District, for Fiscal Year 
2023/2024, the sum of $11,679,468 to be raised by the levy of assessments and/or otherwise, 
which sum is deemed by the Board to be necessary to defray all expenditures of the District 
during said budget year, to be divided and appropriated in the following fashion: 
 

TOTAL GENERAL FUND    $ 656,697  
 

DEBT SERVICE FUNDS      $ 7,328,771  
 
 MAINTENANCE FUNDS    $ 3,694,000  
 

TOTAL ALL FUNDS     $ 11,679,468  
  
 SECTION 3. BUDGET AMENDMENTS 
 
 Pursuant to Section 189.016, Florida Statutes, the District at any time within Fiscal Year 
2023/2024 or within 60 days following the end of the Fiscal Year 2023/2024 may amend its 
Adopted Budget for that fiscal year as follows: 
 

a. A line-item appropriation for expenditures within a fund may be decreased or 
increased by motion of the Board recorded in the minutes, and approving the 
expenditure, if the total appropriations of the fund do not increase. 

 
b. The District Manager or Treasurer may approve an expenditure that would 

increase or decrease a line-item appropriation for expenditures within a fund if 

Page 11



the total appropriations of the fund do not increase and if either (i) the aggregate 
change in the original appropriation item does not exceed the greater of $15,000 
or 15% of the original appropriation, or (ii) such expenditure is authorized by 
separate disbursement or spending resolution. 

 
c. Any other budget amendments shall be adopted by resolution and consistent with 

Florida law. 
 
 The District Manager or Treasurer must ensure that any amendments to the budget under 
paragraph c. above are posted on the District’s website within 5 days after adoption and remain 
on the website for at least 2 years.   
 

SECTION 4.  EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon 
adoption.  
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 12th DAY OF SEPTEMBER 2023.  
 
ATTEST:      AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY  
       DISTRICT  
 
 
       By:       
Secretary / Assistant Secretary    
       Its:       
 
 
 
Exhibit A:  Fiscal Year 2023/2024 Budget 
  

Page 12



Exhibit A 
 

Fiscal Year 2023/2024 Budget 
 

Page 13



  Ave Maria Stewardship
  Community District

Final Budget For
Fiscal Year 2023/2024

October 1, 2023 - September 30, 2024

Page 14



AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT
FISCAL YEAR 2023/2024 BUDGET

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Budget Summary

Final Budget 3

Detailed Final Budget 4

Budget Comparison To Previous Year 5

Debt Service

Detailed Final Series 2019 (refi of 2006) Debt Service Fund Budget 6

Detailed Final Series 2022 (refi of 2012) Debt Service Fund Budget 7

Detailed Final Series 2021 (Master) Debt Service Fund Budget 8

Detailed Final Series 2023 (Master) Debt Service Fund Budget 9

Detailed Final Series 2021 BANS Debt Service Fund Budget 10

Detailed Final Series 2015 (Maple Ridge) Debt Service Fund Budget 11

Detailed Final Series 2016 (Maple Ridge) Debt Service Fund Budget 12

Detailed Final Series 2018 (Maple Ridge) Debt Service Fund Budget 13

Detailed Final Series 2020 (Maple Ridge) Debt Service Fund Budget 14

Detailed Final Series 2022 (Maple Ridge) Debt Service Fund Budget 15

Detailed Final Series 2021 (Ave Maria National) Debt Service Fund Budget 16

Maintenance & Assessments Breakdown

Detailed Final Maintenance Budget 17

Assessment Breakdown 18

Assessment Comparison 19

Page 15



FINAL BUDGET
AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT

FISCAL YEAR 2023/2024
OCTOBER 1, 2023 - SEPTEMBER 30, 2024

Sources Revenue Percentage

Assessments 8,914,584$       76%
Developer Contributions 2,765,026$       24%
Other 400$                 0%

Total Revenue 11,680,010$     100%

Sources Expenditures Percentage

Administrative 447,534$          4%
Maintenance 3,694,000$       32%
Debt Payments 6,869,882$       59%
Discounts & Fees 668,593$          6%

Total Expenditures 11,680,009$     100%

76%

24%

Assessments

Developer Contributions

4%

31%

59%

6%
Administrative

Maintenance

Debt Payments

Discounts & Fees

Page 3Page 16



  DETAILED BUDGET
AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT

FISCAL YEAR 
2023/2024

REVENUES  BUDGET
O & M ASSESSMENTS 2,796,068
DEBT ASSESSMENTS 6,118,516
DEVELOPER CONTRIBUTION FOR O & M 1,554,771
DEVELOPER CONTRIBUTION FOR DEBT 1,210,255
OTHER REVENUES 0
INTEREST 400

TOTAL REVENUES 11,680,010$                                                                               

EXPENDITURES

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENDITURES
SUPERVISORS FEES 9,600
PAYROLL TAX EXPENSE 734
ENGINEERING 85,000
MANAGEMENT 108,000
SECRETARIAL 0
LEGAL 80,000
ASSESSMENT ROLL 20,000
AUDIT FEES 20,300
ARBITRAGE REBATE FEE 3,900
TRAVEL & LODGING 5,000
INSURANCE 45,000
LEGAL ADVERTISING 8,000
MISCELLANEOUS 6,000
POSTAGE 2,000
OFFICE SUPPLIES 3,500
DUES, LICENSE, & SUBSCRIPTIONS 500
MISCELLANEOUS FILINGS, NOTICES, ETC. 500
WEBSITE HOSTING FEES 2,500
TRUSTEE FEES 35,000
CONTINUING DISCLOSURE FEE 12,000
TOTAL ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENDITURES 447,534$                                                                                    

MAINTENANCE EXPENDITURES
MAINTENANCE 3,694,000

TOTAL MAINTENANCE EXPENDITURES 3,694,000$                                                                                 

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 4,141,534$                                                                                 

EXCESS OR (SHORTFALL) 7,538,476$                                                                                 

BOND PAYMENTS (6,869,882)$                                                                                

BALANCE 668,594$                                                                                    

COUNTY APPRAISER & TAX COLLECTOR COST (312,010)
DISCOUNTS FOR EARLY PAYMENTS (356,583)

NET EXCESS / (SHORTFALL) 1$                                                                                               

Note: Reserve Fund Balance As Of 3-31-23 is $293,492.09

Page 4
Page 17



DETAILED BUDGET COMPARISON
AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT

FISCAL YEAR FISCAL YEAR FISCAL YEAR 
2021/2022 2022/2023 2023/2024

REVENUES ACTUAL  BUDGET  BUDGET COMMENTS

O & M ASSESSMENTS 1,556,860 2,152,573 2,796,068 See Detail on Page 9 
DEBT ASSESSMENTS 4,238,061 4,575,451 6,118,516 See Detail on Page 9 
DEVELOPER CONTRIBUTION FOR O & M 1,626,977 1,533,332 1,554,771
DEVELOPER CONTRIBUTION FOR DEBT 1,635,173 1,897,382 1,210,255
OTHER REVENUES / FEMA 71,990 0 0
INTEREST 387 0 400
BOND PREPAYMENTS 9,351 0 0
BOND PREPAYMENTS PAID TO TRUSTEE (9,351) 0 0

TOTAL REVENUES 9,129,448$        10,158,738$      11,680,010$       

EXPENDITURES

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENDITURES

SUPERVISORS FEES 9,600 8,000 9,600 $1,600 Increase From Previous Budget
PAYROLL TAX EXPENSE 734 612 734 Supervisor Fees * 7.65%
ENGINEERING 74,577 55,000 85,000 $30,000 Increase From Previous Budget
MANAGEMENT 70,216 84,000 108,000 $24,000 Increase From Previous Budget
SECRETARIAL 4,500 0 0 No Change From Previous Budget
LEGAL 61,908 75,000 80,000 $5,000 Increase From Previous Budget
ASSESSMENT ROLL 15,000 15,000 20,000 $5,000 Increase From Previous Budget
AUDIT FEES 18,100 18,100 20,300 $2,200 Increase From Previous Budget
ARBITRAGE REBATE FEE 3,900 3,250 3,900 $650 Increase From Previous Budget
TRAVEL & LODGING 4,743 4,000 5,000 $1,000 Increase From Previous Budget
INSURANCE 35,707 37,000 45,000 $8,000 Increase From Previous Budget
LEGAL ADVERTISING 8,058 8,000 8,000 No Change From Previous Budget
MISCELLANEOUS 78,459 6,000 6,000 No Change From Previous Budget
POSTAGE 1,258 2,000 2,000 No Change From Previous Budget
OFFICE SUPPLIES 3,742 3,500 3,500 No Change From Previous Budget
DUES, LICENSE, & SUBSCRIPTIONS 175 500 500 No Change From Previous Budget
MISCELLANEOUS FILINGS, NOTICES, ETC. 0 500 500 No Change From Previous Budget
WEBSITE HOSTING FEES 2,500 2,500 2,500 No Change From Previous Budget
TRUSTEE FEES 33,612 35,000 35,000 No Change From Previous Budget
CONTINUING DISCLOSURE FEE 10,500 12,000 12,000 No Change From Previous Budget
TOTAL ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENDITURES 437,289$           369,962$           447,534$            

MAINTENANCE EXPENDITURES

MAINTENANCE 2,722,905 3,154,500 3,694,000 Total Maintenance - See Detail On Page 16

TOTAL MAINTENANCE EXPENDITURES 2,722,905$        3,154,500$        3,694,000$         

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 3,160,194$        3,524,462$        4,141,534$         

EXCESS OR (SHORTFALL) 5,969,254$        6,634,276$        7,538,476$         

BOND PAYMENTS (5,614,894) (6,129,674)$       (6,869,882)$        2023 P & I Payments 

BALANCE 354,360$           504,602$           668,594$            

COUNTY APPRAISER & TAX COLLECTOR COST (80,720) (235,481) (312,010) 3.5% Of Total Roll (2% Appraiser, 1.5% Collector)

DISCOUNTS FOR EARLY PAYMENTS (223,952) (269,121) (356,583) 4% Of Total Tax Roll 

NET EXCESS / (SHORTFALL) 49,688$             -$                       1$                       

Note: Reserve Fund Balance As Of 3-31-23 is $293,492.09
Page 5

Page 18



DETAILED  DEBT SERVICE BUDGET
AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

DEBT SERVICE FUND - SERIES 2019

FISCAL YEAR FISCAL YEAR FISCAL YEAR 

2021/2022 2022/2023 2023/2024

REVENUES ACTUAL  BUDGET  BUDGET

Interest Income (19) (refi of 06) 51 500 500

Net NAV Collection (19) (refi of 06) 1,393,160 1,368,371 1,368,371

Developer Contribution (refi of 06) 0 0 0

Prepaid Bonds (19) (refi of 06) 9,351 0 0

Bond Proceeds 0 0 0

Total Revenues 1,402,563$                           1,368,871$                           1,368,871$                           

EXPENDITURES

Principal Payments (19) (refi of 06) 910,000 920,000 940,000

Extraordinary Principal Pymt (19) (refi of 06) 0 477 -923

Interest Payments (19) (refi of 06) 475,488 448,394 429,794

Cost of Issuance 0

Total Expenditures 1,385,488$                           1,368,871$                           1,368,871$                           

Net Excess/ (Shortfall) 17,075$                                -$                                          -$                                          

Series 2019 Bond Information (Refi of 2006)
Original Par Amount = $20,310,000 Annual Principal Payments Due:
Average Interest Rate = 2.725% May 1st
Issue Date = June 2019 Annual Interest Payments Due:
Maturity Date = May 2038 May 1st & November 1st

Par Amount As Of 1/1/23 = $17,640,000

Page 6Page 19



DETAILED  DEBT SERVICE BUDGET
AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

DEBT SERVICE FUND - SERIES 2022

FISCAL YEAR FISCAL YEAR FISCAL YEAR 

2020/2021 2022/2023 2023/2024

REVENUES ACTUAL  BUDGET  BUDGET

Interest Income (22) (refi of 12) 6,242 100 100

Net NAV Collection (22) (refi of 12) 1,852,815 1,643,963 1,643,963

Developer Contribution (22) (refi of 12) 0 0 0

Prepaid Bonds (22) (refi of 12) 0 0 0

Total Revenues 1,859,058$                           1,644,063$                           1,644,063$                           

EXPENDITURES

Principal Payments (22) (refi of 12) 0 820,000 845,000

Extraordinary Principal Pymt (22) (refi of 12) 0 4,888 3,822

Interest Payments (22) (refi of 12) 1,894,707 819,175 795,241

Total Expenditures 1,894,707$                           1,644,063$                           1,644,063$                           

Net Excess/ (Shortfall) (35,649)$                               -$                                         -$                                         

Original Par Amount = $22,950,000 Annual Principal Payments Due:
Average Interest Rate = 3.825% May 1st
Issue Date = February 2022 Annual Interest Payments Due:
Maturity Date = May 2042 May 1st & November 1st

Par Amount As Of 1/1/23 = $22,950,000

Series 2022 Bond Information (Refi of 2012)

Page 7Page 20



DETAILED  DEBT SERVICE BUDGET
AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

DEBT SERVICE FUND - SERIES 2021 (MASTER)

FISCAL YEAR FISCAL YEAR FISCAL YEAR 

2021/2022 2022/2023 2023/2024

REVENUES ACTUAL  BUDGET  BUDGET

Interest Income (21) 33 100 100

Net NAV Collection (21) 0 114,412 640,319

Developer Contribution (21) 0 521,194 0

Capitalized Interest (21) 278,884 0 0

Total Revenues 278,918$                                 635,706$                                 640,419$                                 

EXPENDITURES

Principal Payments (21) 0 240,000 250,000

Extraordinary Principal Payments (21) 0 0 225

Interest Payments (21) 278,884 395,706 390,194

Total Expenditures 278,884$                                 635,706$                                 640,419$                                 

Net Excess/ (Shortfall) 33$                                          -$                                             -$                                             

Original Par Amount = $11,610,000 Annual Principal Payments Due:
Average Interest Rate = 3.691% May 1st
Issue Date = August 2021 Annual Interest Payments Due:
Maturity Date = May 2052 May 1st & November 1st

Par Amount As Of 1/1/23 = $11,610,000

Series 2021 Bond Information 

Page 8Page 21



DETAILED  DEBT SERVICE BUDGET
AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

DEBT SERVICE FUND - SERIES 2023 (MASTER)

FISCAL YEAR FISCAL YEAR FISCAL YEAR 

2021/2022 2022/2023 2023/2024

REVENUES ACTUAL  BUDGET  BUDGET

Interest Income (23) 0 0 100

Net NAV Collection (23) 0 0 339,521

Developer Contribution (23) 0 0 942,617

Capitalized Interest (23) 0 0 0

Total Revenues -$                                             -$                                             1,282,238$                              

EXPENDITURES

Principal Payments (23) 0 0 285,000

Extraordinary Principal Payments (23) 0 0 0

Interest Payments (23) 0 0 997,238

Total Expenditures -$                                             -$                                             1,282,238$                              

Net Excess/ (Shortfall) -$                                             -$                                             -$                                             

Note: Capitalized Interest Was Set-Up Through 11-1-2023

Original Par Amount = $19,150,000 Annual Principal Payments Due:
Average Interest Rate = 5.384% May 1st
Issue Date = 8/2023 Annual Interest Payments Due:
Maturity Date = 5/2053 May 1st & November 1st

Par Amount As Of 8/3/23 = $19,150,000

Series 2023 Bond Information 

Page 9Page 22



DETAILED  DEBT SERVICE BUDGET
AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

DEBT SERVICE FUND - SERIES 2021 (BOND ANTICIPATION NOTES)

FISCAL YEAR FISCAL YEAR FISCAL YEAR 

2020/2021 2022/2023 2023/2024

REVENUES ACTUAL  BUDGET  BUDGET

Interest Income (21 BANS) 51 0 0

Net NAV Collection (21 BANS) 0 0 0

Developer Contribution (21 BANS) 345,459 547,400 0

Prepaid Bonds (21 BANS) 0 0 0

Total Revenues 345,510$                                 547,400$                                 -$                                             

EXPENDITURES

Principal Payments (21 BANS) 0 0 0

Extraordinary Principal Payments (21 BANS) 0 0 0

Interest Payments (21 BANS) 383,180 547,400 0

Total Expenditures 383,180$                                 547,400$                                 -$                                             

Net Excess/ (Shortfall) (37,670)$                                  -$                                             -$                                             

*Paid in Full from Series 2023 Bond closed in August 2023

Series 2021 BAN Information
Original Par Amount = $15,640,000 Annual Principal Payments Due:
Interest Rate = 3.500% N/A
Issue Date = August 2021 Annual Interest Payments Due:
Maturity Date = May 2026 May 1st & November 1st

Par Amount As Of 8/3/23 = $0

Page 10Page 23



DETAILED DEBT SERVICE BUDGET
AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT
DEBT SERVICE FUND - SERIES 2015 (MAPLE RIDGE)

FISCAL YEAR FISCAL YEAR FISCAL YEAR 

2021/2022 2022/2023 2023/2024

REVENUES ACTUAL  BUDGET  BUDGET

Interest Income (15) 776 100 100

Net NAV Collection (15) 167,049 163,890 163,890

Developer Contribution (15) 0 0 0

Prepaid Bonds (15) 0 0 0

Total Revenues 167,825$                                 163,990$                                 163,990$                                 

EXPENDITURES

Principal Payments (15) 55,000 50,000 55,000

Extraordinary Principal Payments (15) 0 1,171 -935

Interest Payments (15) 116,569 112,819 109,925

Total Expenditures 171,569$                                 163,990$                                 163,990$                                 

Net Excess/ (Shortfall) (3,743)$                                    -$                                             -$                                             

Series 2015 Bond (Maple Ridge) Information
Original Par Amount = $2,530,000 Annual Principal Payments Due:
Interest Rate = 5.0% - 5.375% May 1st
Issue Date = February 2015 Annual Interest Payments Due:
Maturity Date = May 2045 May 1st & November 1st

Par Amount As Of 1/1/23 = $2,150,000

Page 11Page 24



DETAILED DEBT SERVICE BUDGET
AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT
DEBT SERVICE FUND - SERIES 2016 (MAPLE RIDGE)

FISCAL YEAR FISCAL YEAR FISCAL YEAR 

2021/2022 2022/2023 2023/2024

REVENUES ACTUAL  BUDGET  BUDGET

Interest Income (16) 768 100 100

Net NAV Collection (16) 230,920 226,663 226,663

Developer Contribution (16) 0 0 0

Prepaid Bonds (16) 0 0 0

Total Revenues 231,688$                                 226,763$                                 226,763$                                 

EXPENDITURES

Principal Payments (16) 60,000 60,000 65,000

Extraordinary Principal Payments (16) 0 4,538 2,819

Interest Payments (16) 166,950 162,225 158,944

.

Total Expenditures 226,950$                                 226,763$                                 226,763$                                 

Net Excess/ (Shortfall) 4,738$                                     -$                                             -$                                             

Series 2016 Bond (Maple Ridge) Information
Original Par Amount = $3,390,000 Annual Principal Payments Due:
Interest Rate = 5.250% May 1st
Issue Date = October 2016 Annual Interest Payments Due:
Maturity Date = May 2047 May 1st & November 1st

Par Amount As Of 1/1/23 = $3,120,000

Page 12Page 25



DETAILED DEBT SERVICE BUDGET
AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT
DEBT SERVICE FUND - SERIES 2018 (MAPLE RIDGE)

FISCAL YEAR FISCAL YEAR FISCAL YEAR 

2021/2022 2022/2023 2023/2024

REVENUES ACTUAL  BUDGET  BUDGET

Interest Income (18) 12 100 100

Net NAV Collection (18) 258,760 253,748 253,748

Developer Contribution (18) 1,801 0 0

Prepaid Bonds (18) 0 0 0

Total Revenues 260,574$                                 253,848$                                 253,848$                                 

EXPENDITURES

Principal Payments (18) 60,000 65,000 65,000

Extraordinary Principal Payments (18) 0 490 3,675

Interest Payments (18) 192,890 188,358 185,173

Total Expenditures 252,890$                                 253,848$                                 253,848$                                 

Net Excess/ (Shortfall) 7,684$                                     -$                                             -$                                             

Series 2018 Bond (Maple Ridge) Information
Original Par Amount = $4,000,000 Annual Principal Payments Due:
Interest Rate = 4.9% - 5.375% May 1st
Issue Date = June 2018 Annual Interest Payments Due:
Maturity Date = May 2049 May 1st & November 1st

Par Amount As Of 1/1/23 = $3,595,000

Page 13Page 26



DETAILED DEBT SERVICE BUDGET
AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT
DEBT SERVICE FUND - SERIES 2020 (MAPLE RIDGE)

FISCAL YEAR FISCAL YEAR FISCAL YEAR 

2021/2022 2022/2023 2023/2024

REVENUES ACTUAL  BUDGET  BUDGET

Interest Income (20) 11 100 100

Net NAV Collection (20) 0 207,616 207,616

Developer Contribution (20) 0 0 0

Capitalized Interest 146,853 0 0

Total Revenues 146,863$                                 207,716$                                 207,716$                                 

EXPENDITURES

Principal Payments (20) 0 60,000 60,000

Extraordinary Principal Payments (20) 0 2,004 4,283

Interest Payments (20) 146,853 145,713 143,433

Total Expenditures 146,853$                                 207,716$                                 207,716$                                 

Net Excess/ (Shortfall) 11$                                          -$                                             -$                                             

Note: Capitalized Interest Was Set-Up Through November 1, 2022

Series 2020 Bond (Maple Ridge) Information
Original Par Amount = $3,440,000 Annual Principal Payments Due:
Interest Rate = 3.8% - 4.45% May 1st
Issue Date = July 2020 Annual Interest Payments Due:
Maturity Date = May 2052 May 1st & November 1st

Par Amount As Of 1/1/23 = $3,440,000

Page 14Page 27



DETAILED DEBT SERVICE BUDGET
AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT
DEBT SERVICE FUND - SERIES 2022 (MAPLE RIDGE)

FISCAL YEAR FISCAL YEAR FISCAL YEAR 

2021/2022 2022/2023 2023/2024

REVENUES ACTUAL  BUDGET  BUDGET

Interest Income (22) 12 100 100

Net NAV Collection (22) 0 70,032 444,361

Developer Contribution (22) 0 371,713 0

Capitalized Interest 72,562 0 0

Total Revenues 72,574$                                   441,845$                                 444,461$                                 

EXPENDITURES

Principal Payments (22) 0 145,000 150,000

Extraordinary Principal Payments (22) 0 0 4,216

Interest Payments (22) 72,562 296,845 290,245

Total Expenditures 72,562$                                   441,845$                                 444,461$                                 

Net Excess/ (Shortfall) 12$                                          -$                                             -$                                             

Note: Capitalized Interest Was Set-Up Through November 1, 2022

Series 2022 Bond (Maple Ridge) Information
Original Par Amount = $7,775,000 Annual Principal Payments Due:
Average Interest Rate = 3.00% - 4.00% May 1st
Issue Date = February 2022 Annual Interest Payments Due:
Maturity Date = May 2052 May 1st & November 1st

Par Amount As Of 1/1/23 = $7,775,000

Page 15Page 28



DETAILED DEBT SERVICE BUDGET
AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

DEBT SERVICE FUND - SERIES 2021 (AVE MARIA NATIONAL)

FISCAL YEAR FISCAL YEAR FISCAL YEAR 

2021/2022 2022/2023 2023/2024

REVENUES ACTUAL  BUDGET  BUDGET

Interest Income (21) 20 0 0

Net NAV Collection (21) 90,074 185,033 373,327

Developer Contribution (21) 552,304 454,440 264,186

Capitalized Interest 0 0 0

Total Revenues 642,398$                                 639,473$                                 637,513$                                 

EXPENDITURES

Principal Payments (21) 225,000 225,000 235,000

Extraordinary Principal Payments (21) 0 0 0

Interest Payments (21) 417,398 414,473 402,513

Total Expenditures 642,398$                                 639,473$                                 637,513$                                 

Net Excess/ (Shortfall) -$                                             -$                                             -$                                             

Series 2021 Bond (Ave Maria National) Information
Original Par Amount = $11,340,000 Annual Principal Payments Due:
Interest Rate = 2.6% - 4.0% May 1st
Issue Date = March 2021 Annual Interest Payments Due:
Maturity Date = May 2051 May 1st & November 1st

Par Amount As Of 1/1/23 = $11,115,000

Page 16Page 29



DETAILED  MAINTENANCE BUDGET
AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT

FISCAL YEAR FISCAL YEAR FISCAL YEAR 
2021/2022 2022/2023 2023/2024
ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET

MAINTENANCE EXPENDITURES

AQUATIC REPLACEMENTS 0 0 0
IRRIGATION REPAIR 209,568 95,000 110,000
MISCELLANEOUS MAINTENANCE 15,774 50,000 50,000
PRESSURE WASHING 0 0 50,000
ELECTRIC (STREETLIGHTS, LANDSCAPE) 108,417 85,000 89,250
STREET SWEEPING 0 1,000 1,050
STRIPING & TRAFFIC MARKINGS 25,858 100,000 150,000
STREET LIGHT MAINTENANCE 169,281 110,000 120,000
SIDEWALK / CURB REPAIRS 111,267 150,000 157,500
LANDSCAPE MAINT / ENHANCE (ROADWAY, ENTRIES): 0 30,000 31,500
          MAINTENANCE CONTRACTS 677,593 630,000 715,000
          TREE TRIMMING 3,125 146,000 153,300
          STORM CLEANUP 0 25,000 60,000
          STORM CLEANUP - ELECTRIC 0 25,000 26,250
          STORM CLEANUP - LANDSCAPING 0 25,000 26,250
          PLANT REPLACEMENT 144,514 90,000 100,000
          MULCH & MISCELLANEOUS 119,137 140,000 147,000
WATER MANAGEMENT & DRAINAGE 3,600 4,000 4,200
ENTRY FEATURE WATER 4,943 4,500 4,725
IRRIGATION WATER 64,148 85,000 89,250
FOUNTAIN MAINTENANCE 55,285 25,000 50,000
RODENT / PEST CONTROL 7,500 8,000 8,400
EQUIPMENT REPAIR 18,282 8,000 8,400
SIGNAGE REPAIR 30,352 15,000 15,750
STORM DRAIN CLEANING 78,751 50,000 52,500
DRAINAGE / LAKE MAINTENANCE/ LITTORALS 53,739 75,000 78,750
AERATORS 0 2,000 2,100
PRESERVE MAINTENANCE 59,192 60,000 63,000
SMALL TOOLS 12,045 3,500 3,675
MISCELLANEOUS MAINTENANCE REPAIR 2,225 0 30,000
VEHICLE LEASE / FUEL / REPAIRS (MAINT TECH) 4,985 20,000 21,000
MOSQUITO CONTROL 389,296 500,000 525,000
TEMP FIRE FACILITY OPERATING COSTS 119,654 90,000 9,650
MAINTENANCE TECHNICIANS 115,028 110,000 0
BASE MANAGEMENT FEE 20,857 20,000 23,000
ADMIN PAYROLL 61,389 55,000 0
ASSET MANAGER 0 50,000 75,000
LANDSCAPING PH 2 CAPITAL PROJECT 0 225,000 0
OPERATIONS TEAM 0 0 600,000

TOTAL MAINTENANCE EXPENDITURES 2,685,805$         3,112,000$         3,651,500$         

RESERVE FUND 27,500 27,500 27,500
CONTINGENCY FUND 9,600 15,000 15,000

TOTAL 2,722,905$         3,154,500$         3,694,000$         

Page 17Page 30



Ave Maria Stewardship Community District
Assessment Breakdown - Fiscal Year 2023-2024

Automatic CPI Increase Calculation

O&M Assessment 
Before CPI 
Adjustment 

Year End March 
2023 CPI Rate

Amount of O&M 
Assessment 
Increase due to CPI

New O&M 
Assessment 
Amount

Residential Per

Multi Family / Attached 608 Unit 480.88$               292,375.04$        457.98$               5.00% 22.90$                 480.88$               

Single Family / Detached 4,635 Unit 480.88$               2,228,878.80$     457.98$               5.00% 22.90$                 480.88$               

Other Uses Per

ALF Apartments 0 Unit 31.37$                 -$                    29.88$                 5.00% 1.49$                   31.37$                 

Apartments 0 Unit 113.68$               -$                    108.27$               5.00% 5.41$                   113.68$               

MB Low Affordable Housing 48 Unit 72.19$                 3,465.12$            68.75$                 5.00% 3.44$                   72.19$                 

Retail/Entertainment/Service 140,442 Sq. Ft. 0.55$                   77,243.10$          0.52$                   5.00% 0.03$                   0.55$                   

Professional Offices 51,529 Sq. Ft. 0.35$                   18,035.15$          0.33$                   5.00% 0.02$                   0.35$                   

Light Manufacturing 508,807 Sq. Ft. 0.23$                   117,025.61$        0.22$                   5.00% 0.01$                   0.23$                   

Hotel 0 Room 406.02$               -$                    386.69$               5.00% 19.33$                 406.02$               

Medical Facilities 10,904 Sq. Ft. 1.12$                   12,212.48$          1.07$                   5.00% 0.05$                   1.12$                   

Institutional - AM University 1,250 Student 24.65$                 30,812.50$          23.48$                 5.00% 1.17$                   24.65$                 

Private K-12 School 416 Student 38.51$                 16,020.16$          36.68$                 5.00% 1.83$                   38.51$                 

Total 2,796,067.96$     

Multi Family
166 (1) 165 403.00$               403.00$               66,495.00
92 92 495.00$               495.00$               45,540.00

16 Unit Ver / 30 Unit Ter     46 46 495.00$               455.46$               950.46$               43,721.16
40 40 449.15$               449.15$               17,966.00

Coach / 12 Unit Ver    40 40 449.15$               530.29$               979.44$               39,177.60
16 Unit Ver / 30 Unit Ter     92 92 449.15$               455.46$               904.61$               83,224.12

8 8 532.19$               532.19$               4,257.52
Coach / 12 Unit Ver    48 48 532.19$               530.29$               1,062.48$            50,999.04

16 Unit Ver / 30 Unit Ter     76 76 532.19$               455.46$               987.65$               75,061.40

Single Family
1167 (14) 1153 775.00$               775.00$               893,575.00
394 394 775.00$               449.69$               1,224.69$            482,527.86
270 270 775.00$               673.19$               1,448.19$            391,011.30
3 3 775.00$               667.45$               1,442.45$            4,327.35

631 (2) 629 951.00$               951.00$               598,179.00
94 94 951.00$               673.19$               1,624.19$            152,673.86
408 408 951.00$               667.45$               1,618.45$            660,327.60
335 335 951.00$               670.00$               1,621.00$            543,035.00
218 218 951.00$               667.00$               1,618.00$            352,724.00
113 113 951.00$               670.00$               1,621.00$            183,173.00
227 227 863.74$               863.74$               196,068.98
314 314 863.74$               670.00$               1,533.74$            481,594.36
171 171 863.74$               667.00$               1,530.74$            261,756.54
0 0 1,023.45$            1,023.45$            0.00

290 290 1,023.45$            670.00$               1,693.45$            491,100.50

Total 5,243 (17) 5,226 6,118,516.19

* All Assessments Include the Following :
4% Discount for Early Payments 
1.5% County Tax Collector Administrative Cost
2% County Property Appraiser Administrative Cost

O&M Assessments*

Series 2019 
Bonds

 Series 2022 
Bonds

Series 2015 MR 
Bonds

Series 2016 MR 
Bonds

Per Unit Operation 
& Maintenance 

Assessment 

Category Total 
Operation & 
Maintenance 
Assessment

Net Units 
Assessed

Number of Total 
Units Platted for 
Fiscal Year 2021-

2022

Gross Units 
Platted

Units 
Prepaid 

 Series 2023 
Bonds

Series 2020 MR 
Bonds

Total Debt 
Assessment Per 

Unit

Total Debt 
Assessment On 

Roll

Debt Assessments *

Series 2018 MR 
Bonds

Series 2021 AMN 
Bonds

Series 2022 MR 
Bonds

 Series 2021 
Bonds

Page 18

Page 31



Ave Maria Stewardship Community District
Debt Assessment Comparison 2023-2024

Type Bonds Series
Number of 

Platted Units

FY 2022-2023 
Per Unit 

Assessment

FY 2023-2024 
Per Unit 

Assessment

Change - 
Increase / 
(Decrease)

Multi Family 2019 166 $860.98 $883.88 $22.90

2022 92 $952.98 $975.88 $22.90

2022 + 2021 AMN 46 $1,408.44 $1,431.34 $22.90

2021 40 $907.13 $930.03 $22.90

2021 + 2021 AMN 40 $1,437.42 $1,460.32 $22.90

2021 + 2021 AMN 92 $1,362.59 $1,385.49 $22.90

2023 8 $0.00 $1,013.07 $1,013.07

2023 + 2021 AMN 48 $0.00 $1,543.36 $1,543.36

2023 + 2021 AMN 76 $0.00 $1,468.53 $1,468.53

Single Family 2019 1,167 $1,232.98 $1,255.88 $22.90

2019 + 2015 MR 394 $1,682.67 $1,705.57 $22.90

2019 + 2016 MR 270 $1,906.17 $1,929.07 $22.90

2019 + 2018 MR 3 $1,900.43 $1,923.33 $22.90

2022 631 $1,408.98 $1,431.88 $22.90

2022 + 2016 MR 94 $2,082.17 $2,105.07 $22.90

2022 + 2018 MR 408 $2,076.43 $2,099.33 $22.90

2022 + 2020 MR 335 $2,078.98 $2,101.88 $22.90

2022 + 2021 AMN 218 $2,075.98 $2,098.88 $22.90

2022 + 2022 MR 113 $2,078.98 $2,101.88 $22.90

2021 227 $1,321.72 $1,344.62 $22.90

2021 + 2022 MR 314 $0.00 $2,014.62 $2,014.62

2021 + 2021 AMN 171 $0.00 $1,530.74 $1,530.74

2023 0 $0.00 $1,504.33 $1,504.33

2023 + 2022 MR 290 $0.00 $2,174.33 $2,174.33

ALF Apartments 0 $29.88 $31.37 $1.49

Apartments 0 $108.27 $113.68 $5.41

Low Affordable Housing 48 $68.75 $72.19 $3.44

Retail/Entertainment/Service (sqft) 140,442 $0.52 $0.55 $0.03

Professional Offices (sqft) 51,529 $0.33 $0.35 $0.02

Light Manufacturing (sqft) 508,807 $0.22 $0.23 $0.01

Hotel (rooms) 0 $386.69 $406.02 $19.33

Medical Facilities (sqft) 10,904 $1.07 $1.12 $0.05

Institutional - AM University (students) 1,250 $23.48 $24.65 $1.17

Private K-12 School (students) 416 $36.68 $38.51 $1.83

Assessments Include the Following :
4% Discount for Early Payments 
1.5% County Tax Collector Administrative Cost
2% County Property Appraiser Administrative Cost

Page 19

Page 32



RESOLUTION 2023-14 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE AVE MARIA 
STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT MAKING A DETERMINATION OF BENEFIT 
AND IMPOSING SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS FOR FISCAL YEAR 2023/2024; 
PROVIDING FOR THE COLLECTION AND ENFORCEMENT OF SPECIAL 
ASSESSMENTS, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO PENALTIES AND INTEREST 
THEREON; CERTIFYING AN ASSESSMENT ROLL; PROVIDING FOR AMENDMENTS 
TO THE ASSESSMENT ROLL; PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Ave Maria Stewardship Community District (“District”) is a local unit of 
special-purpose government established pursuant to Chapter 2004-461, Laws of Florida, for the 
purpose of providing, operating and maintaining infrastructure improvements, facilities and 
services to the lands within the District; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District is located in Collier County, Florida (“County”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District has constructed or acquired various infrastructure improvements 
and provides certain services in accordance with the District’s adopted capital improvement plan 
and Chapter 2004-461, Laws of Florida; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors (“Board”) of the District hereby determines to 
undertake various operations and maintenance and other activities described in the District’s 
budget (“Adopted Budget”) for the fiscal year beginning October 1, 2023 and ending September 
30, 2024 (“Fiscal Year 2023/2024”), attached hereto as Exhibit “A;” and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District must obtain sufficient funds to provide for the operation and 
maintenance of the services and facilities provided by the District as described in the Adopted 
Budget; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the provision of such services, facilities, and operations is a benefit to lands 
within the District; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Chapter 2004-461, Laws of Florida, provides that the District may impose 
special assessments on benefitted lands within the District; and 
 

WHEREAS, it is in the best interests of the District to proceed with the imposition of the 
special assessments for operations and maintenance in the amount set forth in the Adopted 
Budget; and 

 
WHEREAS, the District has previously levied an assessment for debt service, which the 

District desires to collect for Fiscal Year 2023/2024; and 
 

Page 33



 WHEREAS, Chapter 197, Florida Statutes, provides a mechanism pursuant to which such 
special assessments may be placed on the tax roll and collected by the local tax collector 
(“Uniform Method”), and the District has previously authorized the use of the Uniform Method 
by, among other things, entering into agreements with the Property Appraiser and Tax Collector 
of the County for that purpose; and 
 
 WHEREAS, it is in the best interests of the District to adopt the assessment roll 
(“Assessment Roll”) attached to this Resolution as Exhibit “B,” and to certify the portion of the 
Assessment Roll related to certain developed property (“Tax Roll Property”) to the County Tax 
Collector pursuant to the Uniform Method and to directly collect the portion of the Assessment 
Roll relating to the remaining property (“Direct Collect Property”), all as set forth in Exhibit “B;” 
and 
 
 WHEREAS, it is in the best interests of the District to permit the District Manager to 
amend the Assessment Roll adopted herein, including that portion certified to the County Tax 
Collector by this Resolution, as the Property Appraiser updates the property roll for the County, 
for such time as authorized by Florida law. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE AVE 
MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT: 

 
 SECTION 1. BENEFIT & ALLOCATION FINDINGS.  The provision of the services, facilities, and 
operations as described in Exhibit “A” confers a special and peculiar benefit to the lands within 
the District, which benefit exceeds or equals the cost of the assessments. The allocation of the 
assessments to the specially benefitted lands is shown in Exhibits “A” and “B,” and is hereby 
found to be fair and reasonable. 
 
 SECTION 2. ASSESSMENT IMPOSITION.  Pursuant to Chapter 2004-461, Laws of Florida, and 
using the procedures authorized by Florida law for the levy and collection of special assessments, 
a special assessment for operation and maintenance is hereby imposed and levied on benefitted 
lands within the District and in accordance with Exhibits “A” and “B.”  The lien of the special 
assessments for operations and maintenance imposed and levied by this Resolution shall be 
effective upon passage of this Resolution.  Moreover, pursuant to Section 197.3632(4), Florida 
Statutes, the lien amount shall serve as the “maximum rate” authorized by law for operation and 
maintenance assessments. 
 
 SECTION 3. COLLECTION AND ENFORCEMENT; PENALTIES; INTEREST.   
 

A. Tax Roll Assessments.  The operations and maintenance special assessments and 
previously levied debt service special assessments imposed on the Tax Roll Property 
shall be collected at the same time and in the same manner as County taxes in 
accordance with the Uniform Method, as set forth in Exhibits “A” and “B.”   
 

Page 34



B. Direct Bill Assessments.  The operations and maintenance special assessments and 
previously levied debt service special assessments imposed on the Direct Collect 
Property shall be collected directly by the District in accordance with Florida law, as 
set forth in Exhibits “A” and “B.”  In the event an assessment subject to direct 
collection by the District shall be delinquent, the District Manager and District 
Counsel, without further authorization by the Board, may initiate foreclosure 
proceedings pursuant to Chapter 170, Florida Statutes, or other applicable law to 
collect and enforce the whole assessment, as set forth herein.   
 

C. Future Collection Methods.  The decision to collect special assessments by any 
particular method – e.g., on the tax roll or by direct bill – does not mean that such 
method will be used to collect special assessments in future years, and the District 
reserves the right in its sole discretion to select collection methods in any given year, 
regardless of past practices.   

 
 SECTION 4. ASSESSMENT ROLL.  The Assessment Roll, attached to this Resolution as 
Exhibit “B,” is hereby certified for collection.  That portion of the Assessment Roll which includes 
the Tax Roll Property is hereby certified to the County Tax Collector and shall be collected by the 
County Tax Collector in the same manner and time as County taxes.  The proceeds therefrom 
shall be paid to the District. 
 
 SECTION 5. ASSESSMENT ROLL AMENDMENT.  The District Manager shall keep apprised of 
all updates made to the County property roll by the Property Appraiser after the date of this 
Resolution, and shall amend the Assessment Roll in accordance with any such updates, for such 
time as authorized by Florida law, to the County property roll.  After any amendment of the 
Assessment Roll, the District Manager shall file the updates in the District records. 
 
 SECTION 6.  SEVERABILITY.  The invalidity or unenforceability of any one or more 
provisions of this Resolution shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the remaining 
portions of this Resolution, or any part thereof. 
 
 SECTION 7. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall take effect upon the passage and 
adoption of this Resolution by the Board. 
 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED this 12th day of September 2023. 
 
ATTEST:      AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY 

DISTRICT 
_____________________________   By:       
Secretary / Assistant Secretary   Its:       
 
Exhibit A: Budget 
Exhibit B: Assessment Roll (Uniform Method) 

Assessment Roll (Direct Collect) 

Page 35



Exhibit A 
Budget 

  

Page 36



Exhibit B 
Assessment Roll (Uniform Method) 

Assessment Roll (Direct Collect) 
 

Page 37



RESOLUTION NO. 2023-15 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY 
DISTRICT ADOPTING A FINAL FISCAL YEAR 2023/2024 BUDGET 
FOR THE MASTER IRRIGATION UTILITY SYSTEM  

 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the Ave Maria Stewardship Community 
District (hereinafter called District) is empowered to charge customers for irrigation water from 
the District-Owned Master Irrigation Utility System; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, the District Manager has prepared a final fiscal year 2023/2024 budget for 
the Master Irrigation Utility System. 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
OF THE AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT THAT: 
  

Section 1. The Final Budget for Fiscal Year 2023/2024 for the District’s Master 
Irrigation Utility System is attached hereto as Exhibit “A” is hereby approved and adopted. 
 
 Section 2. The Secretary of the District is authorized to execute any and all necessary 
transmittals, certifications or other acknowledgements or writings, as necessary, to comply with  
the intent of this Resolution. 
 

PASSED, ADOPTED and EFFECTIVE this 12th day of September, 2023. 
 

 

ATTEST: AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP 
 COMMUNITY DISTRICT 
 
 
 
 
 
By:  By:  
 Secretary/Assistant Secretary Chairman/Vice Chairman 
 
 

Page 38



  Ave Maria Master Irrigation Utility 

Final Budget For
Fiscal Year 2023/2024

October 1, 2023 - September 30, 2024

Page 39



Page 40



Public Notice

Originally published at naplesnews.com on 08/15/2023

AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT NOTICE OF THE DISTRICT'S 
INTENT TO USE THE UNIFORM  METHOD OF COLLECTION OF NON-AD VALOREM 
SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS   Notice is hereby given that the Ave Maria Stewardship 
Community District (District) intends to use the uniform method of collecting non-ad 
valorem special assessments to be levied by the District pursuant to Section 197.3632, 
Florida Statutes. The Board of Supervisors of the District will conduct a public hearing on 
September 12, 2023 at 9:00 a.m. at the Ave Maria Master Association located at 5080 
Annunciation Circle, Suite 101, Ave Maria, Florida 34142.  The purpose of the public 
hearing is to consider the adoption of a resolution authorizing the District to use the 
uniform method of collecting non-ad valorem special assessments (Uniform Method) to be 
levied by the District on properties located on land included in, or to be added to, the 
District.   The District may levy non-ad valorem special assessments for the purpose of 
financing, acquiring, maintaining and/or operating community development facilities, 
services, and improvements within and without the boundaries of the District, to consist of, 
among other things, roadway improvements, utility improvements, stormwater 
management facilities, landscape and irrigation improvement, and/or any other lawful 
improvements or services of the District.   Owners of the properties to be assessed and 
other interested parties may appear at the public hearing and be heard regarding the use 
of the Uniform Method. This hearing is open to the public and will be conducted in 
accordance with the provisions of Florida law. The public hearing may be continued to a 
date, time, and location to be specified on the record at the hearing. There may be 
occasions when Supervisors or District Staff may participate by speaker telephone.  
Pursuant to provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act, any person requiring special 
accommodations to participate in the hearing and/or meeting is asked to contact the 
District Manager's office at 2501A Burns Road, Palm Beach Gardens, Florida 33410, 
(561) 630-4922, at least forty-eight (48) hours before the hearing and/or meeting. If you 
are hearing or speech impaired, please contact the Florida Relay Service at 1-800-955-
8771 who can aid you in contacting the District Manager's Office.  Each person who 
decides to appeal any decision made by the Board with respect to any matter considered 
at the hearing is advised that person will need a record of the proceedings and that 
accordingly, the person may need to ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is 
made, including the testimony and evidence upon which such appeal is to be based. 
Andrew Karmeris District Manager AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT 
www.avemariastewardshipcd.org Aug 15, 22, 29, Sept. 5, 2023 #5794721

Page 41



 

1 
 

RESOLUTION 2023-16 
 

RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE AVE MARIA 
STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT EXPRESSING ITS INTENT TO UTILIZE THE 
UNIFORM METHOD OF LEVYING, COLLECTING, AND ENFORCING NON-AD 
VALOREM ASSESSMENTS WHICH MAY BE LEVIED BY THE AVE MARIA 
STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 
197.3632, FLORIDA STATUTES; PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Ave Maria Stewardship Community District (“District”), is a local unit of 
special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 2004-461, Laws of Florida, 
as amended (the “Act”), which authorizes the District to levy certain assessments which include 
benefit and maintenance assessments and further authorizes the District to levy special 
assessments pursuant to Chapters 170 and 197, Florida Statutes, for the acquisition, 
maintenance, construction, or reconstruction of assessable improvements authorized by the Act; 
and 
 
 WHEREAS, the above referenced assessments are non-ad valorem in nature and, therefore, 
may be levied and collected under the provisions of Section 197.3632, Florida Statutes, in which 
the State of Florida has provided a uniform method for the levying, collecting, and enforcing such 
non-ad valorem assessments (the “Uniform Method”); and 
 

WHEREAS, effective June 23, 2023, the boundaries of the District were subsequently 
amended by Chapter 2023-333, Laws of Florida, adding additional land to those lands within the 
boundaries of the District (“Expansion Parcel”); and 

 
WHEREAS, the Board has previously adopted Resolution 2023-11 declaring the intent to 

use the Uniform Method over the Expansion Parcel for the levy, collection and enforcement of 
non-ad valorem special assessments authorized by Section 197.3632, Florida Statutes, over 
certain lands within the District as described therein; and 
  
 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 197.3632, Florida Statutes, the District has caused notice of 
a public hearing on the District’s intent to use the Uniform Method to be advertised weekly in a 
newspaper of general circulation within Collier County for four (4) consecutive weeks prior to 
such hearing; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District has held a public hearing pursuant to Section 197.3632, Florida 
Statutes, where public and landowners were allowed to give testimony regarding the use of the 
Uniform Method; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District desires to use the Uniform Method for the levy, collection and 
enforcement of non-ad valorem special assessments authorized by Section 197.3632, Florida 

Page 42



 

2 
 

Statutes, for special assessments, including benefit and maintenance assessments, over all the 
lands in the District as further described in Exhibit A. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE AVE 
MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT: 

 
 SECTION 1. The Ave Maria Stewardship Community District upon conducting its public 
hearing as required by Section 197.3632, Florida Statutes, hereby expresses its need and intent 
to use the Uniform Method of collecting assessments imposed by the District over the lands 
described in Exhibit A, as provided in the Act and Chapter 170, Florida Statutes, each of which 
are non-ad valorem assessments which may be collected annually pursuant to the provisions of 
the Act, for the purpose of paying principal and interest on any and all of its indebtedness and 
for the purpose of paying the cost of operating and maintaining its assessable improvements. 
The legal description of the boundaries of the real property subject to a levy of assessments is 
attached and made a part of this Resolution as Exhibit A. The non-ad valorem assessments and 
the District’s use of the uniform method of collecting its non-ad valorem assessment(s) may 
continue in any given year when the Board of Supervisors determines that use of the uniform 
method for that year is in the best interests of the District. 
 
 SECTION 2. The District’s Secretary is authorized to provide the Property Appraiser and 
Tax Collector of Collier County and the Department of Revenue of the State of Florida with a copy 
of this Resolution and enter into any agreements with the Property Appraiser and/or Tax 
Collector necessary to carry out the provisions of this Resolution. 
 
 SECTION 3. If any provision of this Resolution is held to be illegal or invalid, the other 
provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
 SECTION 4. This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall remain 
in effect unless rescinded or repealed. 
 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED this 12th day of September 2023. 
 

            ATTEST:      AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY 
DISTRICT 

 
 
               
Secretary / Assistant Secretary   Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 
       
 
Exhibit A: Legal Description of Ave Maria Stewardship Community District 
 
 

Page 43



 

3 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 

Legal Description of Ave Maria Stewardship Community District 
 
 

 
 

Page 44



 

4 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 45



 

5 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 46



 

6 
 

 
 
 

Page 47



 

7 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 48



 

8 
 

 

 
 

Page 49



Page 50



Page 51



1 
 

RESOLUTION 2023-17 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE AVE 
MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT ADOPTING 
AMENDED RULES RELATING TO PARKING AND PARKING 
ENFORCEMENT; RATIFYING THE ACTIONS OF THE DISTRICT 
MANAGER TO PROVIDE NOTICE THEREOF; AND PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, the Ave Maria Stewardship Community District (“District”) is a local unit of 
special purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 2004-461, Laws of Florida, 
as amended (the “Act”) being situated in Collier County, Florida; and  

WHEREAS, the Act authorizes the District to adopt resolutions as may be necessary for 
the conduct of district business; and 

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the District (“Board”) is authorized by the Act to tow 
vehicles and vessels from its property pursuant provided that the District follows the 
authorization and notice and procedural requirements in Section 715.07, Florida Statutes; and 

 
WHEREAS, the District desires to adopt Amended Rule Relating to Parking and Parking 

Enforcement (“Rule”), pursuant to the provisions of the Act and Section 715.07, Florida Statutes,  
designate Tow-Away Zones, authorize contracting of proper towing vendors and provide for 
operation and enforcement of the Rule by the District; and 

WHEREAS, the Board scheduled the date of the public hearing for Tuesday, September 
12, 2023, at 9:00 A.M., at 5080 Annunciation Circle, Unit 101, Ave Maria, Florida 34142, and the 
District Manager has caused the notice of the public hearing, with the date to be published in a 
newspaper of general circulation in Collier County, Florida, consistent with the requirements of 
the Act; and  
  

WHEREAS, the Board finds that it is in the best interests of the District to adopt by 
resolution the Rule for immediate use and application. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY 
DISTRICT: 

SECTION 1. The District Manager’s actions in setting the public hearing are hereby 
ratified. 

SECTION 2. The District hereby adopts the Rule, attached hereto as Exhibit A. 

SECTION 3.  If any provision of this Resolution or the Rule is held to be illegal or invalid, 
the other provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 

Page 52



2 
 

SECTION 4. This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall remain 
in effect unless rescinded or repealed. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 12th day of September 2023. 

ATTEST:      AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY 
       DISTRICT      
 
 
             
Secretary / Assistant Secretary   Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 
 
 
 
 

Page 53



3 
 

EXHIBIT A 

 

AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT 
AMENDED RULE RELATING TO PARKING AND PARKING ENFORCEMENT 

 
 
 In accordance with Chapter 2004-461, Laws of Florida and Chapter 120, Florida 
Statutes, on September 12, 2023 at a duly noticed public meeting following public hearing, 
the Board of Supervisors of the Ave Maria Stewardship Community District (the “District”) 
adopted the following policy to govern parking and parking enforcement on District 
property (the “Rule”). 
 
 
SECTION 1. INTRODUCTION. The District finds that parked Class B Vehicles, Class C Vehicles, 
and any Vehicle, Vessel or Trailer which exceeds the designated area of a single parking space or 
is not connected to a motorized Vehicle (as such capitalized terms are hereinafter defined) on its 
property cause hazards and danger to the health, safety and welfare of District residents and the 
public. Furthermore, this Rule prohibits parking any Vehicle, Vessel, or Trailer on any District 
property not designated as a parking space as such may cause hazards and danger to the health, 
safety and welfare of District residents and the public and its property. This Rule is intended to 
provide the District with the ability to remove such Class B Vehicles, Class C Vehicles, and 
Vehicles, Vessels and Trailers from District designated Tow-Away Zones consistent with this Rule 
and as indicated on Exhibit A attached hereto. Furthermore, this Rule is intended to allow for 
collection of a fine for parking in violation of this Rule and enforcement via any process allowed 
under law including but not limited to suit in circuit court.  
 
SECTION 2. DEFINITIONS.  
 

A. Class B Vehicle. Any mobile item which normally uses wheels, whether 
motorized or not, that weighs between 10,001 pounds and 20,000 pounds (gross 
vehicle weight), including but not limited to medium duty trucks, motor homes 
and camper trailers. 
 

B. Class C Vehicle. Any mobile item which normally uses wheels, whether 
motorized or not, that weighs more than 20,001 pounds (gross vehicle weight), 
including but not limited to heavy duty trucks, house trailers and buses. 

 
C. Trailer. Any non-motorized, mobile structure which normally uses wheels that 

is drawn by a Vehicle. 
 

D. Vehicle. Any mobile item which normally uses wheels, whether motorized or 
not. 

 

Page 54



4 
 

E. Vessel. Every description of watercraft, barge, or airboat used or capable of 
being used as a means of transportation on water.  

 
F. Parked. A Vehicle, Trailer or Vessel left unattended by its owner or user. 
 
G. Tow-Away Zone. District property in which parking is prohibited and in which 

the District is authorized to initiate a towing and/or removal action. 
 
SECTION 3. DESIGNATED TOWING AREAS. Those areas within the District’s boundaries depicted 
in Exhibit A, which is incorporated herein by reference, are hereby established as “Tow-Away 
Zones” for all Class B Vehicles, Class C Vehicles and any Vehicle, Vessel or Trailer which 
exceeds the designated area of a single parking space or is not connected to a motorized Vehicle 
(“Tow Away Zone”). Exceptions to this Rule include parking of any Vehicle providing a 
construction or service operation within a quarter mile of the site where it is parked for a maximum 
period of three hours. To be entitled to this exemption, the owner or driver must post on the 
Vehicle’s windshield the time initially Parked and address of service site. Furthermore, Vehicle 
must be removed as soon as the construction or service activity is completed. 
 
SECTION 4. ESTABLISHMENT OF NO PARKING AND TOW-AWAY ZONES. The areas set forth in 
Exhibit A attached hereto are declared a Tow Away Zone. 

 
SECTION 5. TOWING/REMOVAL AND ENFORCEMENT PROCEDURES. 
 

A. SIGNAGE AND LANGUAGE REQUIREMENTS. Notice of the Tow-Away Zones shall be 
approved by the District’s Board of Supervisors and shall be posted on District property in 
the manner set forth in section 715.07, Florida Statutes and all applicable Collier County 
requirements including but not limited to the Collier County Non-Consent Towing, Private 
Property Towing, Immobilization and Storage of Vehicles Ordinance, as such may be 
amended from time to time. Such signage is to be placed in conspicuous locations, in 
accordance with section 715.07, Florida Statutes. 
 

B. TOWING/REMOVAL AUTHORITY. To effect towing/removal of a Class B Vehicle, Class C 
Vehicle and any Vehicle, Vessel or Trailer which exceeds the designated area of a single 
parking space or is not connected to a motorized Vehicle (the “Designated Vehicle”), the 
District Manager or his/her designee must verify that the Designated Vehicle was not 
authorized to Park under this Rule. Upon such verification, the District Manager or his/her 
designee shall determine whether this is the Designated Vehicle’s first offense of this Rule.  

 
1. If the first offense, the District Manager or his/her designee shall place a written 

warning on the windshield of the Designated Vehicle. Such written warning shall 
include the time of issuance of the warning. If the Designated Vehicle remains 
parked in the Tow Away Zone for 24 hours following the issuance of a written 
warning, the District Manager or his/her designee then must contact a firm 
authorized by Florida law to tow/remove the Designated Vehicle for the removal at 
the owner’s expense. The Designated Vehicle shall be towed/removed by the firm 

Page 55



5 
 

in accordance with Florida law, specifically the provisions set forth in section 
715.07, Florida Statutes.  

2. If the Designated Vehicle has previously parked in violated on this Rule and 
received a warning as described above, the District Manager or his/her designee 
may immediately contact a firm authorized by Florida law to tow/remove the 
Designated Vehicle for the removal at the owner’s expense. The Designated 
Vehicle shall be towed/removed by the firm in accordance with Florida law, 
specifically the provisions set forth in section 715.07, Florida Statutes.  

 
C. AGREEMENT WITH AUTHORIZED TOWING SERVICE. The District’s Board of Supervisors 

is hereby authorized to enter into and maintain an agreement with a firm authorized by 
Florida law to tow/remove unauthorized vehicles in accordance with Florida law and with 
the policies set forth herein.  

 
SECTION 6. ADDITIONAL PARKING PROHIBITION. Any parking of a Vehicle, Vessel or Trailer 
which exceeds the designated area of a single parking space or is not connected to a motorized 
Vehicle on District property is prohibited. Furthermore, this Rule prohibits parking any Vehicle, 
Vessel, or Trailer on any District property not designated as a parking space. The only exemptions 
to this Rule are Vehicles or Trailers present for services associated with pre-approved, District-
authorized events or parking of any Vehicle providing a construction or service operation within 
a quarter mile of the site where it is parked for a maximum period of three (3) hours. To be entitled 
to this exemption, the owner or driver must post on the Vehicle’s windshield the time initially 
Parked and address of service site. Furthermore, Vehicle must be removed as soon as the 
construction or service activity is completed. 
 
SECTION 7. ADDITIONAL ENFORCEMENT AND FINE. In lieu of towing of any Designated 
Vehicles and for enforcement of any provision of the Rule, the District may elect to charge an 
enforcement fine of one thousand dollars ($1,000.00) per violation of this Rule pursuant to section 
120.69, Florida Statutes, (the “Enforcement Fine”). When implementing the Enforcement Fine, 
the District shall: 

1. For an initial violation of this Rule, post an initial notice of violation on the Vehicle, 
Vessel or Trailer and send copy of notice to its owner.  

2. If after twenty-four (24) hours from delivery of the notice, the Vehicle, Vessel or 
Trailer remains parked in violation of this Rule, an Enforcement Fine shall be 
charged to the owner of the Vehicle, Vessel or Trailer. The District shall provide 
owner notice of the Enforcement Fine. Furthermore, District shall be authorized to 
enforce this Rule and the Enforcement Fine in any manner authorized by law 
including but not limited to filing an action in circuit court pursuant to section 
120.69, Florida Statutes, and request to recover attorney’s fees. 

3. After providing notice of the initial violation, each day a Vehicle, Vessel or Trailer 
is parked in violation of this Rule shall be an additional violation of the Rule and 
subject to an additional Enforcement Fine. 

4. The District Manager or its designee shall maintain records of all violations of this 
Rule including but not limited to date-stamped photographs, copies of 
correspondence and other records.  

 

Page 56



6 
 

SECTION 8. PARKING AT YOUR OWN RISK. Vehicles may be parked on District property pursuant 
to this Rule, provided however that the District assumes no liability for any theft, vandalism and/ 
or damage that might occur to personal property and/or to such vehicles. 
 
EXHIBIT A – Tow Away Zone 
Effective date: September 12, 2023 

  

Page 57



7 
 

Exhibit A 

Tow Away Zone Depicted in Yellow Highlight 

 

 

 

Page 58



AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT 
 

SEPTEMBER 2023 
Project Name Start 

Date 
End 
Date 

Est. Cost % 
Complete

Responsible 
Party 

Comments

Anthem Parkway 
Phase 5A (Starts at 
North park to 
Avalon) 

2nd 
Quarter 

2023 

TBD TBD 0% Andrew Karmeris 
(District) 

Permits expected in Sept/Oct 
2023. Ready to commence 
immediately upon permit 

approval.  
Anthem Parkway 
Phase 5B (Will 
include roundabout 
at Pope John Paul) 

3rd 
Quarter 

2023 

TBD TBD 0% Andrew Karmeris 
(District) 

Environmental permits 
expected June 2024 

Apron at Owens 
roundabout 

May 
2023 

Design 
Plans 

11/30/23 

TBD 0% Ted Tryka 
 (District) 

Given ok to proceed by 
attorney/insurance on  

8-25-2023 
Additional 
Landscaping on 
Milano 

August 
2023 

Sept 2023 TBD  0% David Genson 
(AMD) 

AMD is working on pricing 
and expected to have a 

proposal at fall meeting.  
Parking on District 
Roads 

01/2023 2nd 
Quarter 

2023 

N/A N/A Andrew Karmeris 
(District Manager) 

 
Kim Twiss (Master 

Association 
Manager) 

Signs have been delivered 
and approximately 90% have 
been installed.  Remainder to 

be installed weather 
permitting during the next 

few weeks.    

Town Core Striping 
and Flashing Signs 

01/2023 9/15/23 $188,000 98% Ted Tryka  
(District) 

Flashing signs installed 
 8-18-23.   

2 Parking Spots Remain. 



AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT 
 
Asset Management 
(Placeholder for 
FY24) 

March 
2023 

Sept 2023 $50,000 FY 23 –  
100% 

David Genson 
(AMD) 

Mapping of roadways, 
sidewalks, curbs, light poles 
are complete.  Budgeting for 
Fiscal Year 2024 to include 

site visits, mapping of 
additional assets such as 

signs, fixtures, etc. 
Reserve Funds 
(Irrigation and 
O&M) 

TBD N/A TBD TBD David Genson 
(AMD) 

Rate Adjustment 
presentation expected at Fall 

2023 meeting. 
Front Fountain 
(Letters) 

N/A Sept/Oct2
023 

$22,000 80% Donny Diaz  Fountain is operational.  
Project has begun, expected 

to be complete in 
approximately 4 weeks.  

 
National Gate 
monitoring 

2023 Ongoing N/A N/A Alyssa Willson 
(District) 

The District continues to 
monitor National Gate 

operation.  Residents have 
been instructed to file 

complaints filed with District 
Manager.  

 



1 
 

FY 2024 DEVELOPER CONTRIBUTION AND DEFICIT FUNDING AGREEMENT  
 

THIS FY 2024 DEVELOPER CONTRIBUTION AND DEFICIT FUNDING AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is 
made and entered into to be effective the 12th day of September 2023, by and between: 
 

Ave Maria Stewardship Community District, a local unit of special-purpose government 
established pursuant to Chapter 2004-461, Laws of Florida, (the “Act”) and located in 
Collier County, Florida (“District”), and 
 
Ave Maria Development, LLLP, a Florida limited liability limited partnership, the primary 
developer of lands within the boundary of the District, and whose address is 2600 Golden 
Gate Parkway, Naples, Florida 34105 (“Developer”). 

 
RECITALS 

 
 WHEREAS, the District was established for the purpose of planning, financing, constructing, 
operating and/or maintaining certain infrastructure; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District, pursuant to the Act is authorized to levy such taxes, special assessments, 
fees and other charges as may be necessary in furtherance of the District's activities and services; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors (“Board”) of the District has adopted the District’s operations 
and maintenance budget (“O&M Budget”) for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2024 (“FY 2024”) and 
has levied special assessments (“O&M Assessments”) to fund a portion of the O&M Budget a copy of 
which is attached hereto and made a part hereof as Exhibit A; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board has adopted the Ave Maria Master Irrigation Utility budget (“Utility Budget”) 
for FY 2024 a copy of which is attached hereto and made a part hereof as Exhibit B; and  
 
 WHEREAS, in connection with the adoption of the O&M Budget and the levy of the O&M 
Assessments, and in consideration for the District not levying additional O&M Assessments, the Developer 
has agreed to pay the O&M Assessments levied on its properties, and additionally to fund any portion 
(“O&M Deficit”) of the O&M Budget needed by the District above and beyond the amount of the O&M 
Assessments actually levied;  
 
 WHEREAS, in connection with the adoption of the Utility Budget, the Developer has agreed to pay 
the developer contribution outlined in the Utility Budget and fund any funding deficits; 
    

NOW, THEREFORE, based upon good and valuable consideration and the mutual covenants of the 
parties, the receipt of which and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as 
follows: 
 

1. RECITALS.  The recitals so stated are true and correct and by this reference are 
incorporated into and form a material part of this Agreement.  

 
2.  FUNDING OBLIGATION.   
(a) O&M Budget. The Developer agrees to make available to the District the monies necessary to 

fund any O&M Deficit for FY 2024, as detailed in the O&M Budget, within thirty (30) days of written 

Page 61



2 
 

request by the District.  The funds shall be placed in the District's general checking account and used to 
fund the actual administrative and operations expenses of the District’s O&M Budget. The Developer 
agrees to fund any O&M Deficit for actual expenses of the District and up to the total amount of the O&M 
Budget; provided, however, that the Developer shall not be responsible for any O&M Deficit resulting 
from amendments to the O&M Budget, unless the Developer approves of such amendments. The 
Developer’s payment of funds pursuant to this Agreement in no way affects Developer’s obligation to pay 
O&M Assessments levied on lands it owns within the District.  The District shall have no obligation to 
reimburse the Developer for any monies paid under this Agreement. 

 
(b) Utility Budget. The Developer agrees to make available to the District the monies necessary 

to fund any developer contributions for FY 2024, as detailed in the Utility Budget. Further, the Developer 
agrees to fund any utility funding deficit for actual expenses of the District.  Developer agrees to provide 
such developer contributions and funding deficit within thirty (30) days of written request by the District.  
The funds shall be placed in the District's general checking account and used to fund the actual 
administrative and operations expenses of the District’s Utility Budget. The District shall have no 
obligation to reimburse the Developer for any monies paid under this Agreement. 
 

3. AMENDMENT.  This instrument shall constitute the final and complete expression of the 
agreement between the parties relating to the subject matter of this Agreement. Amendments to and 
waivers of the provisions contained in this Agreement may be made only by an instrument in writing which 
is executed by both of the parties hereto. 

 
4. AUTHORITY.  The execution of this Agreement has been duly authorized by the 

appropriate body or official of all parties hereto, each party has complied with all the requirements of law, 
and each party has full power and authority to comply with the terms and provisions of this instrument. 

 
5. ASSIGNMENT.  This Agreement may not be assigned, in whole or in part, by either party 

except upon the written consent of the other.  Any purported assignment without such consent shall be 
void. 

 
6. DEFAULT.  A default by either party under this Agreement shall entitle the other to all 

remedies available at law or in equity, which shall include, but not be limited to, the right of damages, 
injunctive relief and specific performance.    
 

7. ATTORNEY’S FEES.  In the event that either party is required to enforce this Agreement 
by court proceedings or otherwise, then the parties agree that the prevailing party shall be entitled to 
recover from the other all costs incurred, including reasonable attorneys' fees and costs for trial, 
alternative dispute resolution, or appellate proceedings. 

 
8. BENEFICIARIES.  This Agreement is solely for the benefit of the formal parties herein and 

no right or cause of action shall accrue upon or by reason hereof, to or for the benefit of any third party 
not a formal party hereto.  Nothing in this Agreement expressed or implied is intended or shall be 
construed to confer upon any person or corporation other than the parties hereto any right, remedy or 
claim under or by reason of this Agreement or any provisions or conditions hereof; and all of the 
provisions, representations, covenants and conditions herein contained shall inure to the sole benefit of 
and shall be binding upon the parties hereto and their respective representatives, successors and assigns.   

 

Page 62



3 
 

9. APPLICABLE LAW; VENUE.  This Agreement and the provisions contained herein shall be 
construed, interpreted and controlled according to the laws of the State of Florida.  Venue for any action 
under this Agreement shall be in a state circuit court of competent jurisdiction in and for Collier County, 
Florida. 

 
10. ARM’S LENGTH.  This Agreement has been negotiated fully between the parties as an 

arm's length transaction.  The parties participated fully in the preparation of this Agreement with the 
assistance of their respective counsel.  In the case of a dispute concerning the interpretation of any 
provision of this Agreement, the parties are each deemed to have drafted, chosen and selected the 
language, and the doubtful language will not be interpreted or construed against any party. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties execute this Agreement the day and year first written above. 

 
      AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT 
 
 
      _________________________________________ 
      By:  _____________________________________ 
      Its: ______________________________________ 
  
 
 

AVE MARIA DEVELOPMENT, LLLP 
 
 
      By:_____________________________________ 
      Name: __________________________________ 
      Title: ___________________________________ 
 
 
EXHIBIT A: O&M Budget with Assessment Schedule 
EXHIBIT B: Utility Budget  
  

Page 63



4 
 

EXHIBIT A 
O&M Budget with Assessment Schedule 

  

Page 64



5 
 

EXHIBIT B 
Utility Budget 

 
 
 
 

 

Page 65



1 
 

RESOLUTION 2023-18 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE AVE MARIA 
STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT RATIFYING, CONFIRMING, AND 
APPROVING THE SALE OF THE AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY 
DISTRICT CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT REVENUE BONDS, SERIES 2023; RATIFYING, 
CONFIRMING, AND APPROVING THE ACTIONS OF THE CHAIRMAN, VICE 
CHAIRMAN, TREASURER, SECRETARY, ASSISTANT SECRETARIES, AND ALL 
DISTRICT STAFF REGARDING THE SALE AND CLOSING OF THE AVE MARIA 
STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT REVENUE 
BONDS, SERIES 2023; DETERMINING SUCH ACTIONS AS BEING IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH THE AUTHORIZATION GRANTED BY THE BOARD; 
PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE.  

 
 WHEREAS, the Ave Maria Stewardship Community District (the “District”), is a local unit 
of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 2004-461, Laws of 
Florida; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the District previously adopted resolutions authorizing the issuance and the 
negotiated sale of bonds within the scope of Chapter 2004-461, Laws of Florida, including its 
$19,150,000 Ave Maria Stewardship Community District Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds, 
Series 2023 (Phase 4 Master Improvements Project) (the “Series 2023 Bonds”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District closed on the sale of the Series 2023 Bonds on August 3, 2023; 
and 
 
 WHEREAS, as prerequisites to the issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds, the Chairman, 
Vice Chairman, Treasurer, Assistant Secretaries, and District Staff including the District 
Manager, District Financial Advisor, and District Counsel were required to execute and deliver 
various documents (the “Closing Documents”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District desires to ratify, confirm, and approve all actions of the District 
Chairman, Vice Chairman, Treasurer, Assistant Secretaries, and District Staff in closing the sale 
of the Series 2023 Bonds. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT: 

 
 SECTION 1. The sale, issuance, and closing of the Series 2023 Bonds is in the best 
interests of the District. 
 

SECTION 2. The issuance and sale of the Series 2023 Bonds, the adoption of 
resolutions relating to such bonds, and all actions taken in the furtherance of the closing on 

Page 66



2 
 

such bonds, are hereby declared and affirmed as being in the best interests of the District and 
are hereby ratified, approved, and confirmed. 
 
 SECTION 3. The actions of the Chairman, Vice Chairman, Treasurer, Secretary, 
Assistant Secretaries, and all District Staff in finalizing the closing and issuance of the Series 
2023 Bonds, including the execution and delivery of the Closing Documents, and such other 
certifications or other documents required for the closing on the Series 2023 Bonds, are 
determined to be in accordance with the prior authorizations of the Board and are hereby 
ratified, approved, and confirmed in all respects. 
 
 SECTION 4. If any provision of this Resolution is held to be illegal or invalid, the other 
provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
 SECTION 5. This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall remain 
in effect unless rescinded or repealed. 
 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED this 12th day of September 2023. 
 
 
ATTEST:     AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY 

DISTRICT 
 
 
_____________________________  ________________________________________ 
Secretary / Assistant Secretary  Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 
 

Page 67



 

This space reserved for use by the Clerk of 
the Circuit Court 

 

This Instrument Prepared by 
and return to:    
 
Ave Maria Stewardship Community District  
c/o Special District Services 
2501 A Burns Road 
Palm Beach Gardens, Florida 33410 
 

 
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF PUBLIC FINANCING AND MAINTENANCE OF 

IMPROVEMENTS TO REAL PROPERTY UNDERTAKEN BY 
THE AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT 

[SERIES 2023 MASTER BONDS] 
 

Board of Supervisors and Officers1 
 

Thomas Peek 
Chairman 

 
Jay Roth 

Vice Chairman 
 

Robb Klucik 
Board Member 

 
Thomas DiFlorio 
Board Member 

 
Jeff Sonalia 

Board Member 
 

Special District Services 
District Manager 

The Oaks Center, 2501A Burns Road 
Palm Beach Gardens, Florida 33410 

(561) 630-4922 
 

District records are on file at the offices of the District Manager and at the local records office 
2600 Golden Gate Parkway, Naples, Florida 334105, and are available for public inspection upon 
request during normal business hours. 

 
 1 This list reflects the composition of the Board of Supervisors and Officers as of September 
12, 2023. For a current list, please contact the District Manager or visit avemariastewardshipcd.org. 

Page 68



 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 

Introduction ................................................................................................................................... 1 
 
 
What is the District and how is it governed? .............................................................................. 1 
 
 
What infrastructure improvements does the  
District provide and how are the improvements paid for? ....................................................... 2 
 
 
Assessments, Fees, and Charges .................................................................................................. 5 
 
 
Method of Collection ..................................................................................................................... 9 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

Page 69



1 

Introduction 
 
 On behalf of the Board of Supervisors of the Ave Maria Stewardship Community District 
(the “District”), the following information is provided to give you a description of the District's 
services and the assessments that are anticipated to be levied within the District to pay for certain 
community infrastructure, and the manner in which the District is operated. The District is a unit 
of special-purpose local government created pursuant to and existing under the provisions of 
Chapter 2004-461, Laws of Florida, as amended. Unlike city and county governments, the District 
has only certain limited powers and responsibilities. These powers and responsibilities include, for 
example, construction and/or acquisition, as well maintenance, of roadways, stormwater 
management, reclaimed water transmission facilities and landscaping improvements, and other 
related public infrastructure. 
 
 Under Florida law, special districts are required to take affirmative steps to provide for the 
full disclosure of information relating to the public financing and maintenance of improvements 
to real property undertaken by such districts. The law specifically provides that this information 
shall be made available to all persons currently residing within the District and to all prospective 
District residents. The following information describing the Ave Maria Stewardship Community 
District and the assessments, fees and charges that are anticipated to be levied within the District 
to pay for certain community infrastructure is provided to fulfill this statutory requirement. 
 

What is the District and how is it governed? 
 
 The District is an independent special taxing district created pursuant to and existing under 
the provisions of Chapter 2004-461, Laws of Florida, enacted on June 17, 2004, as amended. The 
District currently encompasses approximately 11,806 acres of land located within the jurisdictional 
boundaries of Collier County, Florida. As a local unit of special-purpose government, the District 
provides an alternative means for planning, financing, constructing, operating and maintaining 
various public improvements and community facilities within its jurisdiction. 
 
 The District is governed by a five-member Board of Supervisors, the members of which 
must be residents of Florida and citizens of the United States. Initially, members were elected on 
an at-large basis by the owners of property within the District, each landowner being entitled to 
one vote for each acre of land with fractions thereof rounded upward to the nearest whole number. 
The two candidates receiving the highest number of votes were elected to terms which expired in 
November 2006, and the three candidates receiving the next largest amount of votes were elected 
to terms which expired in November 2008. Thereafter, there shall be an election by landowners 
for the District every two years in November on a date established and noticed by the Board. The 
Board called for a referendum on the question of whether certain members of the Board should be 
elected by qualified electors, which was approved. A "qualified elector" in this instance is any 
person at least 18 years of age who is a citizen of the United States, a legal resident of Florida and 
of the District, and who is also registered with the Supervisor of Elections to vote in Collier 
County. The Board has approved maps of the District describing and locating the urban areas 
within the District (the “Map”). The Map is used to determine the number of Supervisors to be 
elected by the qualified electors. The Map is to be updated every five years, or sooner at the 
discretion of the Board. Currently, the District is between 25% and 50% urban, and two 

Page 70



2 

Supervisors were elected by qualified electors in November 2022 and the remaining three 
Supervisors were elected on a one-acre, one-vote principal. When the urban areas are at least 50%, 
but less than 70% of the District, three Supervisors will be elected by qualified electors and the 
remaining two Supervisors will be elected on a one-acre, one-vote principal. When urban areas 
constitute at least 70%, but less than 90% of the District, four Supervisors will be elected by 
qualified electors and the remaining Supervisor will be elected on a one-acre, one-vote principal. 
When urban areas are at least 90% of the District, all five Supervisors will be elected by qualified 
electors. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if at any time the Board proposes to exercise its ad 
valorem taxing power, it shall, prior to the exercise of such power, call an election at which all 
members of the Board shall be elected by qualified electors of the District. 
 
 Board meetings are noticed in the local newspaper and are conducted in a public forum in 
which public participation is permitted. Consistent with Florida's public records laws, the records 
of the District are available for public inspection during normal business hours. Elected members 
of the Board are similarly bound by the State's open meetings law and are subject to the same 
disclosure requirements as other elected officials under the State's ethics laws. 
 

What infrastructure improvements does the  
District provide and how are the improvements paid for? 

 
 The boundaries of the District encompass approximately 11,806 acres of land located in 
Collier County. The legal description of the land encompassed within the District is attached hereto 
as Exhibit A. The public infrastructure necessary to support the District’s development program 
includes, but is not limited to, the following: drainage and stormwater management system, 
roadways, a master irrigation system, landscaping, mitigation and restoration, land acquisition and 
public facilities, and water and wastewater utilities. The District’s master infrastructure 
improvement plan is described in the Disclosure of Public Financing and Maintenance of 
Improvements to Real Property Undertaken by the Ave Maria Stewardship Community District, 
which has been previously recorded in Book 5164, Page 551 of the Official Records of Collier 
County (the “Master Disclosure”), as well as the District’s Engineer’s Reports on file in the 
District’s public records. These improvements have been or will be funded by the District’s sale 
of special assessment bonds (discussed below).  
 
 On December 1, 2006, the District issued $26,245,000 Ave Maria Stewardship Community 
District Capital Improvement Revenue, Series 2006A (the “Series 2006A Bonds”) and 
$26,220,000 Ave Maria Stewardship Community District Bond Anticipation Notes, Series 2006 
(the “Series 2006 BANs” together the “2006 Bonds”) for the purpose of: (1) financing a portion 
of the costs associated with the acquisition, construction, installation and equipping certain 
infrastructure improvements described in the Master Disclosure; (2) paying certain costs 
associated with the issuance of the 2006 Bonds; (3) making a deposit into the Reserve Account for 
the benefit of all of the 2006 Bonds and (4) paying a portion of the interest to become due on the 
2006 Bonds. 
 
 On June 7, 2012, the District issued $29,100,000 Ave Maria Stewardship Community 
District Capital Improvement Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2012 (the “Series 2012 Bonds”) 
for the purpose of: (1) refunding and redeem all of the outstanding original aggregate principal 

Page 71



3 

amount of Series 2006 BANs; (2) paying certain costs associated with the issuance of the Series 
2012 Bonds and (3) making a deposit into the 2012 Reserve Account for the benefit of all of the 
2012 Bonds. 
 
 On March 5, 2015, the District issued $2,530,000 Ave Maria Stewardship Community 
District Capital Improvement Revenue, Series 2015 (the “Series 2015 Bonds”) for the purpose of: 
(1) financing a portion of the costs associated with the acquisition, construction, installation and 
equipping certain infrastructure improvements described below; (2) paying certain costs associated 
with the issuance of the Series 2015 Bonds; (3) making a deposit into the Reserve Account for the 
benefit of all of the Series 2015 Bonds and (4) paying a portion of the interest to become due on 
the Series 2015 Bonds. 
 
 On November 2, 2016, the District issued $11,085,000.00 Ave Maria Stewardship 
Community District Bond Anticipation Notes, Series 2016 (Phase 3 Master Improvements Project) 
(the “Series 2016 BANs”) for the purpose of: (1) financing a portion of the costs associated with 
the acquisition, construction, installation and equipping certain infrastructure improvements 
comprising the Phase 3 Master Improvements Project; (2) paying certain costs associated with the 
issuance of the Series 2016 BANs; (3) making a deposit into the Reserve Account for the benefit 
of all of the Series 2016 BANs and (4) paying a portion of the interest to become due on the Series 
2016 BANs. 
 
 Also on November 2, 2016, the District issued $3,390,000 Ave Maria Stewardship 
Community District Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 2016 (Maple Ridge Phase 2 
Project) (the “Series 2016 Bonds”) for the purpose of: (1) financing a portion of the costs 
associated with the acquisition, construction, installation and equipping certain infrastructure 
improvements described below; (2) paying certain costs associated with the issuance of the Series 
2016 Bonds; (3) making a deposit into the Reserve Account for the benefit of all of the Series 2016 
Bonds and (4) paying a portion of the interest to become due on the Series 2016 Bonds. 
 
 On June 7, 2018, the District issued $4,000,000 Ave Maria Stewardship Community 
District Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 2018 (Maple Ridge Phase 3 Project) (the 
“Series 2018 Bonds”) for the purpose of: (1) financing a portion of the costs associated with the 
acquisition, construction, installation and equipping certain infrastructure improvements described 
below; (2) paying certain costs associated with the issuance of the Series 2018 Bonds; (3) making 
a deposit into the Reserve Account for the benefit of all of the Series 2018 Bonds and (4) paying 
a portion of the interest to become due on the Series 2018 Bonds. 
 
 On June 27, 2019, the District issued $20,310,000 Ave Maria Stewardship Community 
District Capital Improvement Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2019 (the “Series 2019 Bonds”) 
for the purpose of: (1) refunding and redeeming all of the outstanding Series 2006A Bonds; (2) 
paying certain costs associated with the issuance of the Series 2019 Bonds and (3) making a deposit 
into the 2019 Reserve Account for the benefit of all of the 2019 Bonds. 
 
 On July 16, 2020, the District issued $3,400,000 Ave Maria Stewardship Community 
District Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 2020 (Maple Ridge Phase 4 Project) (Bank 
Qualified) (the “Series 2020 Bonds”) for the purpose of: (1) financing a portion of the costs 

Page 72



4 

associated with the acquisition, construction, installation and equipping certain infrastructure 
improvements described below; (2) paying certain costs associated with the issuance of the Series 
2020 Bonds; (3) making a deposit into the Reserve Account for the benefit of all of the Series 2020 
Bonds and (4) paying a portion of the interest to become due on the Series 2020 Bonds. 
 
 On March 4, 2021, the District issued $11,340,000 Ave Maria Stewardship Community 
District Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 2021 (Ave Maria National Project) (the 
“Series 2021 Ave Maria National Bonds”) for the purpose of: (1) financing a portion of the costs 
associated with the acquisition, construction, installation and equipping certain infrastructure 
improvements described below; (2) paying certain costs associated with the issuance of the Series 
2021 Ave Maria National Bonds; (3) making a deposit into the Reserve Account for the benefit of 
all of the Series 2021 Ave Maria National Bonds and (4) paying a portion of the interest to become 
due on the Series 2021 Ave Maria National Bonds. 
 
 On August 19, 2021, the District issued $16,640,000 Ave Maria Stewardship Community 
District Bond Anticipation Notes, Series 2021 (Phase 4 Master Improvements Project) (the “Series 
2021 BANs”) for the purpose of: (1) financing a portion of the costs associated with the 
acquisition, construction, installation and equipping certain infrastructure improvements 
comprising the Phase 4 Master Improvements Project; (2) paying certain costs associated with the 
issuance of the Series 2021 BANs; (3) making a deposit into the Reserve Account for the benefit 
of all of the Series 2021 BANs and (4) paying a portion of the interest to become due on the Series 
2021 BANs. 
 
 On August 19, 2021, the District issued $11,610,000 Ave Maria Stewardship Community 
District Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 2021 (Phase 3 Master Improvements Project) 
(the “Series 2021 Master Bonds”) for the purpose of: (1) redeeming all of the outstanding Series 
2016 BANs described above; (2) paying certain costs associated with the issuance of the Series 
2021 Master Bonds; (3) making a deposit into the Reserve Account for the benefit of all of the 
Series 2021 Master Bonds and (4) paying a portion of the interest to become due on the Series 
2021 Master Bonds. 
 
 On February 3, 2022, the District issued $7,775,000 Ave Maria Stewardship Community 
District Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 2022 (Maple Ridge Phase 5 Project) (the 
“Series 2022 Bonds”) for the purpose of: (1) financing a portion of the costs associated with the 
acquisition, construction, installation and equipping certain infrastructure improvements described 
below; (2) paying certain costs associated with the issuance of the Series 2022 Bonds; (3) making 
a deposit into the Reserve Account for the benefit of all of the Series 2022 Bonds and (4) paying 
a portion of the interest to become due on the Series 2022 Bonds. 
 
 On February 3, 2022, the District issued $22,950,000 Ave Maria Stewardship Community 
District Capital Improvement Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2022A (the “Series 2022A 
Bonds”) for the purpose of: (1) refunding and redeeming all of the outstanding Series 2012 Bonds; 
(2) paying certain costs associated with the issuance of the Series 2022A Bonds and (3) making a 
deposit into the 2022A Reserve Account for the benefit of all of the 2022A Bonds. 
 

Page 73



5 

 On August 3, 2023, the District issued $19,150,000 Ave Maria Stewardship Community 
District Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 2023 (Phase 4 Master Improvements Project) 
(the “Series 2023 Bonds”) for the purpose of: (1) financing a portion of the costs associated with 
the acquisition, construction, installation and equipping certain infrastructure improvements 
described below; (2) paying certain costs associated with the issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds; 
(3) making a deposit into the Reserve Account for the benefit of all of the Series 2023 Bonds and 
(4) paying a portion of the interest to become due on the Series 2023 Bonds. 

 
Assessments, Fees, and Charges 

 
 The costs of acquisition or construction of a portion of the District’s infrastructure 
improvements have been financed by the District through the sale of its Series 2012 Bonds, Series 
2015 Bonds, Series 2016 BANs, Series 2016 Bonds, Series 2018 Bonds, Series 2019 Bonds, Series 
2020 Bonds, Series 2021 Ave Maria National Bonds, Series 2021 BANs, Series 2021 Bonds, 
Series 2022 Bonds, Series 2022A Bonds and Series 2023 Bonds. The Series 2022A Bonds will 
refinance and refund the Series 2012 Bonds, resulting in a reduction in the special assessment 
amounts for those units. The annual debt service payments, including interest due thereon, are 
payable solely from and secured by the levy of non-ad valorem or special assessments against 
lands within the District which benefit from the construction, acquisition, establishment and 
operation of the District’s improvements. The annual debt service obligations of the District which 
must be defrayed by annual assessments upon each parcel of land or platted lot will depend upon 
the type of property purchased. Depending on your location, you may be subject to any of the 
assessments listed below. Interested persons are encouraged to contact the District Manager for 
information regarding special assessments on a particular lot or parcel of lands. A copy of the 
District’s assessment methodology and assessment roll are available for review in the District’s 
public records. 
 
 The current maximum annual debt assessments for the Series 2015 Bonds per unit are as 
follows:  
 

Product Type Series 2015 Maximum Annual 
Assessment Level Per Unit 

Maple Ridge Phase 3 – 55’ $449.69 
Maple Ridge Phase 3 – 65’ $449.69 
Estate Lots Phase 1 – 90’ $449.69 
Coquina at Maple Ridge Phase 1 – 0’ $449.69 

 
The current maximum annual debt assessments for the Series 2016 Bonds per unit are as 

follows:  
 

Product Type Series 2016 Bonds Maximum 
Annual Assessment Level Per 
Unit 

Maple Ridge Phase 4 – 55’ $673.19 
Maple Ridge Phase 4 – 65’ $673.19 

Page 74



6 

Estate Lots Phase 2 – 90’ $673.19 
Coquina at Maple Ridge Phases 2 & 3 – 0’ $673.19 

 
 The current maximum annual debt assessments for the Series 2018 Bonds per unit are as 
follows:  
 

Product Type Series 2018 Bonds Maximum 
Annual Assessment Level Per 
Unit 

Maple Ridge Model Homes - 90’ $667.45 
Maple Ridge Phase 5A – 55’ $667.45 
Maple Ridge Phase 5A – 65’ $667.45 
Maple Ridge Phase 5B – 45’ $667.45 
Maple Ridge Phase 6A – 55’ $667.45 
Maple Ridge Phase 6A – 65’ $667.45 
Maple Ridge Phase 6A – zero lot line $667.45 
Silverwood Phase 1B – zero lot line $667.45 
Silverwood Phase 2A – zero lot line $667.45 

 
Provided below are the current maximum annual assessment levels for the Series 2019 

Bonds:  
 

Product Type Series 2019 Bonds Maximum 
Annual Assessment Level Per 

Unit 
Multi-Family $403 
Single-Family $775 

 

Page 75



7 

 The current maximum annual debt assessments for the Series 2020 Bonds per unit within 
the Maple Ridge Phase 4 Project are as follows:  
 

Product Type Series 2020 Bonds Maximum 
Annual Assessment Level Per 
Unit 

Maple Ridge Phase 6B – 55’ $670.00 
Maple Ridge Phase 6B – 65’ $670.00 
Maple Ridge Phase 6C – 65’ $670.00 
Silverwood Phase 2B – 40’ zero lot line $670.00 

 
 The current maximum annual debt assessments for the Series 2021 Ave Maria National 
Bonds per unit within the Ave Maria National Project are as follows:  
 

Product Type Series 2021 Ave Maria National 
Bonds Maximum Annual 
Assessment Level Per Unit 

50’SF $667.00 
70’ SF $667.00 
Coach $530.29 
12 Unit Veranda $530.29 
16 Unit Veranda $455.46 
30 Unit Veranda $455.46 

 
 The current debt assessments for the 2021 BANs per acre within Phase 4 Master 
Improvements Project assessment area are as follows:  
 

Unit 2021 BANs Maximum 
Assessment Per Unit 

Acre $9,655.46 
 
 The current maximum annual debt assessments for the Series 2021 Master Bonds per 
platted unit within Phase 3 Master Improvements Project assessment area are as follows:  
 

Unit Type Series 2021 Master Bonds Maximum Annual 
Assessment Level Per Unit 

Multi Family  $449.15 
Single Family $832.25 

 
Note: The maximum annual assessments level amounts have been grossed up to include collection costs from Collier 
County and a maximum discount for early payment as authorized by law. Further, until fully assigned to platted lots, 
a portion of the Assessments securing repayment of the 2012 Bonds, 2020 Bonds, 2021 Notes and 2021 Master Bonds 
are secured from the same unplatted land described in Exhibit A. The 2019 Bonds were allocated to the first 2,000 
units within the District. The 2012 Bonds are estimated to be allocated to the next 2,092 units within the District on a 
first platted, first assigned basis. The Series 2021 Master Bonds will be allocated to the 1,024 units following the 
previous 4,092 assessable units on a first platted, first assigned basis.  

Page 76



8 

 
 The current maximum annual debt assessments for the Series 2022 Bonds per unit within 
the Maple Ridge Phase 5 Project are as follows:  
 

Product Type Series 2022 Bonds Maximum 
Annual Assessment Level Per 
Unit 

Maple Ridge Phase 7A $670.00 
Maple Ridge Phase 7B $670.00 
Silverwood Phase 3 $670.00 
Silverwood Phase 4 $670.00 

 
 The current maximum annual debt assessments for the Series 2022A Bonds per unit are as 
follows: 
 

Product Type Series 2022A Bonds Maximum 
Annual Assessment Level Per Unit 

Multi-Family $495 
Single Family $951 

 
The current maximum annual debt assessments for the Series 2023 Bonds per unit within 

the Phase 4 Master Improvements Project are as follows:  
 
Product Type Series 2023 Bonds Maximum 

Annual Assessment Level Per Unit 
Multi-Family $532.19 
Single Family $1,023.45 

 
Note: The maximum annual assessments level amounts have been grossed up to include collection 
costs from Collier County and a maximum discount for early payment as authorized by law.  
 
 The District may undertake the construction, acquisition, or installation of other future 
improvements and facilities, which may be financed by bonds, notes, or other methods authorized 
by 2004-461, Laws of Florida, as amended. More information can be obtained from the 
improvement plan, as revised and supplemented, on file with the District. 
 
 The amounts described above exclude any operations and maintenance assessments which 
may be determined and calculated annually by the District’s Board of Supervisors against all 
benefited lands in the District. These assessments will also be collected in the same manner as 
county ad valorem taxes. 
 
 A detailed description of all costs and allocations which result in the formulation of 
assessments, fees and charges are available for public inspection upon request. 
 

Method of Collection 

Page 77



9 

 
 The District's special and maintenance assessments may appear on that portion of the 
annual real estate tax bill entitled "non-ad valorem assessments," and will be collected by the 
county tax collector in the same manner as county ad valorem taxes. Each property owner must 
pay both ad valorem and non-ad valorem assessments at the same time. Property owners will, 
however, be entitled to the same discounts as provided for ad valorem taxes. As with any tax bill, 
if all taxes and assessments due are not paid within the prescribed time limit, the tax collector is 
required to sell tax certificates which, if not timely redeemed, may result in the loss of title to the 
property. 
 
 This description of the Ave Maria Stewardship Community District's operation, services 
and financing structure is intended to provide assistance to landowners and purchasers concerning 
the important role that the District plays in providing infrastructure improvements essential to the 
development of new communities. If you have questions or would simply like additional 
information about the District, please write to Special District Services, The Oaks Center, 2501A 
Burns Road, Palm Beach Gardens, Florida 33410, or call (561) 630-4922. 
 
 
 

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Blank] 

Page 78



10 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Supplemental Disclosure of Public Financing and 
Maintenance of Improvements to Real Property Undertaken has been executed as of the 12th day 
of September, 2023, and recorded in the Official Records of Collier County, Florida. 

 
AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY 
DISTRICT 
      

 
   By:_______________________________________ 
    Thomas Peek, Chairman 
 
_______________________________ __________________________________________ 
Witness  Witness 
 
_______________________________ __________________________________________ 
Print Name  Print Name 
 
 
 
STATE OF FLORIDA 
COUNTY OF _________________ 
 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of ▢ physical presence or ▢ 
online notarization, this 12th day of September, 2023, by Thomas Peek, as Chairman of the of the 
Ave Maria Stewardship Community District, for and on behalf of the District. He [__] is personally 
known to me or [__] produced ______________________________ as identification. 

 
 

Exhibit A:  Legal Description  
 

Page 79



11 

Exhibit A 
 
 

 
 

Page 80



12 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 81



13 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 82



14 

 
 
 

Page 83



15 

 
 
 
 

Page 84



16 

 

Page 85



17 

 

Page 86



1 
 

RESOLUTION 2023-19 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE AVE 
MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT REGARDING THE 
AWARD OF A LANDSCAPE AND IRRIGATION MAINTENANCE 
SERVICES CONTRACT; PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Ave Maria Stewardship Community District (the “District”) a local unit of 
special-purpose government established pursuant to Chapter 2004-461, Laws of Florida, as 
amended, and located in Collier County, Florida, has requested proposals for professional 
landscape and irrigation maintenance services (the “Services”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District has received proposals from __________ (__) contractors 
interested in providing the Services; and 
 
 WHEREAS, after review and consideration of the proposals received by the District, 
District Staff has recommended to negotiate an agreement with 
______________________________; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board hereby determines its intent to award the contract for Services to 
______________________________.  

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY 
DISTRICT: 

 
SECTION 1. All of the representations, findings and determinations contained within 

the recitals stated above are recognized as true and accurate and are expressly incorporated 
into this Resolution. 

 
SECTION 2. The response of ______________________________ is the response 

which best serves the interests of the District. 
 

SECTION 3. It is the intent of the District’s Board to award 
______________________________ a contract for the Services.  
 

SECTION 4. Notice of this award shall be given to all proposers in accordance with the 
District’s Rules of Procedure. The District’s Chairman and Vice Chairman, members of the Board 
and staff of the District are hereby authorized to take such further actions as are necessary to 
ensure the expeditious execution of a contract for the Services.  
 

Page 87



2 
 

SECTION 5. If any provision of this Resolution is held to be illegal or invalid, the other 
provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
 SECTION 6. This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall remain 
in effect unless rescinded or repealed. 
 
  PASSED AND ADOPTED this 12th day of September 2023. 
 
 
ATTEST:      AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY 

DISTRICT 
 
 
_____________________________   _______________________________ 
Secretary / Assistant Secretary   Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 88



Page 89



A. “Extraordinary Event” 

B. “Inspections”

C. “Routine Maintenance and Repairs”

A General Duties.  

Page 90



i. Inspection Services.  

ii. Maintenance and Repairs.

B. Investigation and Report of Accidents/Claims.

C. Adherence to District Rules, Regulations and Policies.

D. Care of the District Improvements.

Page 91



E. Staffing and Billing.

F. Designation of District Representative.  

G. Operation of Association Gate and Guardhouse Improvements.  

A. Extraordinary Repairs.  

i.

a.
b.
c.
d.

Page 92



ii.

iii.

B. Emergency Repairs.  

C.

Page 93



A.

B.

C..

Page 94



Page 95



Page 96



Page 97



Page 98



SIGNATURES APPEAR ON FOLLOWING PAGE] 

Page 99



AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP  
      COMMUNITY DISTRICT

Page 100



Page 101



Page 102



Page 103



Page 104



Page 105



Page 106



Page 107



Page 108



Edward F. Tryka, III
2021.01.25 11:18:29-05'00'

Page 109



Page 110



X

X
X

X
X

X

X

M
A

IN
T

E
N

A
N

C
E

F
A

C
IL

IT
Y

 T
R

A
C

T

T
R

A
C

T
G

M

T
R

A
C

T
L

30

T
R

A
C

T
G

12
20

' A
.M

.U
.E

.

5

T
R

A
C

T
L

32

4

T
R

A
C

T
L

33

T
R

A
C

T
L

31

3

T
R

A
C

T
F

D
-1

(F
U

T
U

R
E

D
E

V
E

LO
P

M
E

N
T

T
R

A
C

T
L

35

2
T

R
A

C
T

L
21

10
' P

E
R

IM
E

T
E

R
 B

U
F

F
E

R
T

R
A

C
T

 (
T

Y
P

)
T

R
A

C
T

G
14

T
R

A
C

T
G

7
T

R
A

C
T

L
23

1

T
R

A
C

T
L

36

9

T
R

A
C

T
L

34

T
R

A
C

T
G

13
T

R
A

C
T

L
27

T
R

A
C

T
F

D
-1

(F
U

T
U

R
E

D
E

V
E

LO
P

M
E

N
T

T
R

A
C

T
L

24

T
R

A
C

T
L

25
T

R
A

C
T

L
26

T
R

A
C

T
G

8

T
R

A
C

T
L

29
6

T
R

A
C

T
G

10

T
R

A
C

T
G

11T
R

A
C

T
L

28
7

T
R

A
C

T
G

9

8

10
' P

E
R

IM
E

T
E

R
 B

U
F

F
E

R
T

R
A

C
T

 (
T

Y
P

)

T
R

A
C

T
C

11
T

R
A

C
T

L
22

T
R

A
C

T
C

H
(C

LU
B

H
O

U
S

E
T

R
A

C
T

)

T
R

A
C

T
C

9

T
R

A
C

T
L

16

T
H

E
 N

A
T

IO
N

A
L

 A
T

 A
V

E
 M

A
R

IA
(4

90
.3

 A
C

)

69
68

T
R

A
C

T
C

6
25

26
27

28

24

23

T
R

A
C

T
C

4

6

7

5

4

13
3

T
R

A
C

T
L

10

T
R

A
C

T
G

1

T
R

A
C

T
C

3

T
R

A
C

T C
1

T
R

A
C

T
C

2
T

R
A

C
T

L
3

14

10
' P

E
R

IM
E

T
E

R
 B

U
F

F
E

R
T

R
A

C
T

 (
T

Y
P

)

T
R

A
C

T
L

6

T
R

A
C

T
L

1

2

1

11

12

T
R

A
C

T
L

4

T
R

A
C

T
G

2

T
R

A
C

T
L

5

T
R

A
C

T
L

11

8

9

10

T
R

A
C

T
R

T
R

A
C

T
M

F
-1

15

T
R

A
C

T
L

7

T
R

A
C

T
G

2

T
R

A
C

T
L

8

16

T
R

A
C

T
G

3

12
T

R
A

C
T

L
12

22
21

20

19

18

17

16

15
14

13
40

T
R

A
C

T
C

5

T
R

A
C

T
C

10

29

30

31

32

33
34

35
36

37

38

39

T
R

A
C

T
L

13
T

R
A

C
T

L
9

11

T
R

A
C

T
G

4

T
R

A
C

T
L

15

67
66

65
64

63
62

61
60

59
58

57
56

55
54

53

70
71

72

73
74

75
76

77
78

79
80

81
82

83
84

85

T
R

A
C

T
L

14

10
T

R
A

C
T

L
17

T
R

A
C

T
C

8

T
R

A
C

T
C

7

T
R

A
C

T
F

D
-1

A
.M

.U
.E

.
(F

U
T

U
R

E
D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T

T
R

A
C

T
G

6

18

T
R

A
C

T
G

2

T
R

A
C

T
L

18

T
R

A
C

T
G

5

17
T

R
A

C
T

L
20

T
R

A
C

T
L

19

T
R

A
C

T
L

2

N
AT

IO
N

AL
 B

LV
D

ARTI
SAN C

O
URT

D
IA

M
O

N
T

E
 P

LA
C

E

B
E

R
W

IC
K

 L
A

N
E

86
87

88
89

90
91

92
93

94
95

97

52
51

50
49

48
47

46
45

44
43

42
41

BE
R

W
IC

K 
LA

N
E

DIAMONTE PLACE

N
AT

IO
N

AL
 B

LV
D

T
H

E
 N

A
T

IO
N

A
L

 A
T

 A
V

E
 M

A
R

IA

N
at

io
n

al
 G

ol
f 

an
d

 C
C

_A
ve

M
ar

ia
_E

n
gi

n
ee

ri
n

g 
R

ep
or

t.
d

w
g

 -
  1

/
8/

21

1"
 =

 8
00

'

E
X

H
IB

IT
 A

SH
E

E
T

 1
 O

F
 5

D
E

S
C

R
IP

T
IO

N
ID

E
N

T
IF

IC
A

T
IO

N

T
H

E
 N

A
T

IO
N

A
L

 A
T

 A
V

E
 M

A
R

IA

A
c.

 ±

49
0.

3

IR
R

IG
A

T
IO

N

R
O

A
D

W
A

Y
 T

R
A

C
T

L
F

46
.2

31
,5

87

L
A

K
E

 T
R

A
C

T
17

1.
1

G
O

L
F

 C
O

U
R

S
E

 T
R

A
C

T

F
U

T
U

R
E

 D
E

V
E

L
O

P
M

E
N

T

92
.0

R
E

S
ID

E
N

T
IA

L
/C

O
M

M
. T

R
A

C
T

56
.7

12
4.

3

Page 111



N
at

io
n

al
 G

ol
f 

an
d

 C
C

_A
ve

M
ar

ia
_E

n
gi

n
ee

ri
n

g 
R

ep
or

t.
d

w
g 

- 
 1

/
8/

21

1"
 =

 4
00

'

E
X

H
IB

IT
 A

SH
E

E
T

 2
 O

F
 5

T
H

E
 N

A
T

IO
N

A
L

 A
T

 A
V

E
 M

A
R

IA

Page 112



N
at

io
n

al
 G

ol
f 

an
d

 C
C

_A
ve

M
ar

ia
_E

n
gi

n
ee

ri
n

g 
R

ep
or

t.
d

w
g

 -
  1

/
8/

21

1"
 =

 4
00

'

E
X

H
IB

IT
 A

SH
E

E
T

 3
 O

F
 5

T
H

E
 N

A
T

IO
N

A
L

 A
T

 A
V

E
 M

A
R

IA

Page 113



T
H

E
 N

A
T

IO
N

A
L

 A
T

 A
V

E
 M

A
R

IA

N
at

io
n

al
 G

ol
f 

an
d

 C
C

_A
ve

M
ar

ia
_E

n
gi

n
ee

ri
n

g 
R

ep
or

t.
d

w
g

 -
  1

/
8/

21

1"
 =

 4
00

'

E
X

H
IB

IT
 A

SH
E

E
T

 4
 O

F
 5

Page 114



N
at

io
n

al
 G

ol
f 

an
d

 C
C

_A
ve

M
ar

ia
_E

n
gi

n
ee

ri
n

g 
R

ep
or

t.
d

w
g 

- 
 1

/
8/

21

1"
 =

 4
00

'

E
X

H
IB

IT
 A

SH
E

E
T

 5
 O

F
 5

T
H

E
 N

A
T

IO
N

A
L

 A
T

 A
V

E
 M

A
R

IA

Page 115



Page 116



Page 117



Page 118



Page 119



Page 120



Page 121



Page 122



o

o

o

Page 123



RESOLUTION 2023-20 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE AVE 
MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT TO DESIGNATE 
THE DATE, TIME AND PLACE OF PUBLIC HEARING AND 
AUTHORIZATION TO PUBLISH NOTICE OF SUCH HEARING FOR 
THE PURPOSE OF ADOPTING CONSTRUCTION AND 
MAINTENANCE SERVICES PREQUALIFICATION CRITERIA AND 
PROCEDURES; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 
WHEREAS, Ave Maria Stewardship Community District (the “District”) is a local unit of 

special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 2004-461, Laws of Florida, as 
amended, (the “Act”) being situated entirely within Collier County, Florida; and  
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the District (the “Board”) is authorized by the Act 
to prequalify contractors for construction and maintenance services pursuant to its Rules of 
Procedure and Chapter 255, Florida Statutes. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY 
DISTRICT: 

 
SECTION 1.  A Public Hearing will be held to adopt the District’s proposed construction 

prequalification criteria and procedures on _______________, 2023, at _________ __.m., at 
____________________________________.  Such proposed construction prequalification criteria 
and procedures shall be for consideration of additional prequalified contractors to supplement those 
prequalified by action of the Board May 4, 2021. 
 

SECTION 2.   The District Secretary is directed to publish notice of the hearing in 
accordance with its rules and Chapter 255, Florida Statutes. 

 
SECTION 3.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED this 12th day of September 2023. 

 
ATTEST:       AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP 

COMMUNITY DISTRICT  
 
 
_______________________________  _________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary    Chairman, Board of Supervisors 
 
 

Page 124



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CONTRACTOR'S PREQUALIFICATION STATEMENT 
(CONSTRUCTION OF PUBLIC INFRASTRUCTURE IMPROVEMENTS AND 

MAINTENANCE SERVICES) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

      
Contractor 

Page 125



 

 2 

 
 
 
 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 
 

ADVERTISEMENT 
 

NOTICE TO PROSPECTIVE BIDDERS 
 

MINIMUM CONTRACTOR QUALIFICATIONS 
 

APPLICATION FOR CONTRACTOR PREQUALIFICATION 
 

AFFIDAVIT FOR INDIVIDUAL 
 

AFFIDAVIT FOR PARTNERSHIP 
 

AFFIDAVIT FOR CORPORATION 
 

SWORN STATEMENT UNDER SECTION 287.133(3)(A), 
FLORIDA STATUTES, ON PUBLIC ENTITY CRIMES 

 
CONTRACTOR CLASSIFICATION LISTING 

 
DETERMINATION OF QUALIFIED PROSPECTIVE BIDDER 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 126



 

 3 

 
REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS 

FOR CONSTRUCTION AND MAINTENACE SERVICES 
AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT 

COLLIER COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
 

The Ave Maria Stewardship Community District (“District”) requests Applications for Qualification from firms interested in providing 
construction and maintenance services for public infrastructure improvements.  Upcoming projects include the construction of various 
infrastructure improvements and maintenance services in and around the District including construction of roadways, stormwater 
management facilities, irrigation facilities, earthwork, landscape, hardscape, street lighting, and other public improvements and 
maintenance services including exotic vegetation removal and lake and littoral maintenance.  With the exception of landscaping, 
construction projects may include maintenance of existing infrastructure. 
 
To be eligible to submit qualifications, firms must hold all required applicable licenses in good standing and be authorized to do 
business in the Collier County, and the State of Florida. 
 
Applicants may request an Application for Qualification from Agnoli Barber & Brundage, Inc., 7400 Trail Boulevard, Suite 200, 
Naples, Florida 34108, or via email to tryka@abbinc.com beginning   , October  , 2023, after 12:00 p.m.  Applicants 
must submit one original and seven copies of the Application for Qualification, along with one (1) electronic copy (PDF format on a 
USB flash drive), by 3:00 p.m. on   ,   , 2023.  Address responses to:  Mr. Ted Tryka, District Engineer, 7400 
Trail Boulevard, Suite 200, Naples, Florida 34108. 
 
Qualified firms will be selected based on experience, qualifications of personnel, and ability to perform construction or maintenance 
services.  Packages will be reviewed and rated by a committee appointed by the District Board of Supervisors, with final selected 
expected to be made at a publicly noticed Board of Supervisors meeting as soon as practicable after receipt of the recommendations of 
the Committee appointed by the Board to evaluate the submitted packages.  At that time, all qualified firms may be assigned a project 
qualification for work under District contracts.  All applicants will be promptly notified after the construction and maintenance firms are 
selected.  The pre-qualification decisions of the Board of Supervisors shall be valid for a period of three (3) years, after which the Board 
of Supervisors may either extend the prequalification period for an additional two (2) years or open the prequalification process again, at 
its sole discretion.  The District reserves the right to waive any informality in the qualifications submitted, to reject any and all 
qualifications submitted and to advertise for the services. 
 
Pre-qualified firms will be eligible to bid on construction and maintenance projects subject to the applicants approved project 
classification and aggregate limit.  Failure to pre-qualify may preclude the District from awarding contracts for construction and 
maintenance services to non-qualified firms. 
 
Applicants may contact the District Engineer, at Agnoli Barber & Brundage, Inc., 7400 Trail Boulevard, Suite 200, Naples, Florida 
34108 or via email to tryka@abbinc.com, until the qualifications submittal deadline for further information.  All requests for 
information shall be in writing. 
 
Todd Wodraska, District Manager 
 
Publication Date:  _____________, 2023 

Page 127



 

 4 

 
NOTICE TO PROSPECTIVE BIDDERS 

 
 
 

The information required herein is for the purpose of fairly evaluating contractor qualifications to perform various construction and 
maintenance activities for the Ave Maria Stewardship Community District (the “District”).   
 
APPLICANTS FOR PREQUALIFICATION AS BIDDERS FOR THE AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY 
DISTRICT CONTRACTS ARE HEREBY NOTIFIED THAT INCLUSION OF FALSE, DECEPTIVE OR FRAUDULENT 
STATEMENTS ON THIS APPLICATION CONSTITUTES FRAUD.  FURTHERMORE, YOU ARE HEREWITH NOTIFIED 
THAT THE AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT CONSIDERS SUCH ACTION ON THE PART OF 
THE APPLICANT TO CONSTITUTE GOOD CAUSE FOR DENIAL, SUSPENSION, OR REVOCATION OF THE 
PROSPECTIVE BIDDER'S QUALIFICATION FOR BIDDING ON ITS PROJECTS. 
 
Please be advised that this application must be complete within itself without reference to any other application or statement.  All 
sections of the application shall be completed.  If any of the requested information does not apply, it shall be indicated as "None" or 
"N.A." as applicable.  Failure to make entries in every section of this application may result in a disqualification. 
 
All financial information provided in this application and accompanying audited financial statements are exempt from public record 
laws pursuant to Section 119.071(1)(c), Florida Statutes, and will be kept confidential.  District can request annual audits and annual 
resubmittal of any or all financial statements from any prequalified contractor. 
 
The properly completed Contractor's Prequalification Statement shall be submitted to Agnoli Barber & Brundage, Inc., 7400 Trail 
Boulevard, Suite 200, Naples, Florida 34108, Any questions with regard to the requests for information contained herein shall be 
addressed to Mr. Ted Tryka, District Engineer, Agnoli Barber & Brundage, Inc., 7400 Trail Boulevard, Suite 200, Naples, Florida 
34108, or via email to tryka@abbinc.com. 

Page 128



 

 5 

. 
 
 

Ave Maria Stewardship Community District 
Minimum Contractor Qualifications 

For Public Infrastructure Improvements 
 

Contractor: ________________________________ Contact: __________________________________ 
 
Address: ____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Phone: _________________  Fax: _______________ Email:  __________________________________ 

 
Typical Work Description:  Construction of Public Infrastructure Improvements may include earthwork, paving, drainage, 
irrigation, landscaping, hardscaping, roadway improvements and all work associated with these types of activities; 
maintenance services include exotic vegetation removal and lake and littoral maintenance.  With the exception of 
landscaping, construction projects may include maintenance of existing infrastructure. 
 
Owner:  Ave Maria Stewardship Community District 
 
 
Certification:  I acknowledge that the Ave Maria Stewardship Community District has the right to deny, suspend or revoke 
a prospective bidder’s qualification for bidding on the Public Infrastructure Construction and Maintenance Services based 
upon the Determination of Qualified Prospective Bidder information contained herein. 
 

_____________________________________                                                  
Signature 

       _____________________________________                                                  
       Print Name 
       _______________________  _____________ 
                                                                                            Title                                         Date 
 
 
 

Page 129



 

 6 

AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT 
CONTRACTOR PREQUALIFICATION STATEMENT 

 
Application for Contractor Prequalification 

(Attach Additional Sheets if Necessary) 
 
 
 

DATE SUBMITTED      , 2023 
 
1. Applicant        /_/ A Partnership 
          [Company Name]    /_/ A Corporation 
        /_/ A Subsidiary Corporation 
 
2. Parent Company Name            
 
3. Parent Company Address:   
 
 Street Address             
 
 P. O. Box (if any)            
 
 City      State      Zip Code     
 
 Telephone       Fax no. ___________________________________ 
 
 1st Contact Name        Title      
 
 2nd Contact Name        Title      
 
4. Applicant Company Address (if different): 
 
 Street Address             
 
 P. O. Box (if any)            
 
 City      State      Zip Code     
 
 Telephone       Fax no. ___________________________________ 
 
 1st Contact Name        Title      
 
 2nd Contact Name        Title      
 
5. List the location of the office from which the applicant would perform work for the Ave Maria Stewardship Community 

District work. 
 
 Street Address             
 
 City      State    Zip Code   
 
 Telephone      Fax no.       
 
 1st Contract Name      Title      
 

Page 130



 

 7 

6. Is the applicant Company incorporated in the State of Florida?  yes (  )  no (  ) 
 
 6.1 If yes, provide the following: 
 
  o Is the Company in good standing with the Florida Department of State Division of Corporations?  yes (  )  no (  ) 
 
   If no, please explain          
 
              
 
              
 
  o Date incorporated ________________________ Charter No. _________________________ 
 
 6.2 If no, provide the following: 
 
  o The State with whom the applicant company is incorporated in?      
 
  o Is the company in good standing with the State?  yes (  )  no (  ) 
 
   In no, please explain          
 
              
 
  o Date incorporated ________________________ Charter No. _________________________ 
 
  o Is the applicant company authorized to do business in the State of Florida?  yes (  )  no (  ) 
 
7. Is the applicant company a registered or licensed contractor with the State of Florida?  yes (  )  no (  ) 
 Provide copies of all licenses listed. 
 
 7.1 If yes, provide the following: 
 
 o Type of registration (i.e. certified general contractor, certified electrical contractor, etc.) ___________ 
      . 
 
 o License No.      Expiration Date      
 
 o Qualifying individual      Title       
 
 o List company(s) currently qualified under this license        
 
               
 
 7.2  Is the applicant Company a registered or licensed Contractor with Collier County?  yes (  )  no(  ) 
 
 
 7.3        Has the applicant Company performed work for an independent special district previously?  yes (  )   no (  ) 

Page 131



 

 8 

 
8. Is the applicant company prequalified by the Florida Department of Transportation?  yes (  )  no (  ) 
 
 If yes, provide the following: 
 
 o Work Class Ratings            
 
               
 
 o Maximum Capacity Rating          
 
9. Name of Applicant's Bonding Company          
 
 Address             
 
 Approved Bonding Capacities: Aggregate Limit   $    
    Single Project Limit  $    
    Total Current Contracts Bonded  $    
 
 Note:  All bonds and insurance policies obtained by Applicant required herein shall be issued by companies authorized to do 

business in the State of Florida and shall have a financial strength rating of A or better, and a financial size category of X or 
higher, as rated by A.M. Best Company. 

 
 Name of Applicant's Bonding Agency          
 
 Address             
 
 Contact Name         Phone      
 
10. List the Applicant's total annual dollar value of work completed for each of the last three (3) years starting with the latest year 

and ending with the most current year   (2020)    (2021)  ,  
 (2022)    
 
11. List the classification(s) (refer to attached listing) of work the applicant is applying for prequalification based on the applicant 

company's ability to self perform the work (excluding general contracting). 
 
             
             
             
 
12. What are the applicant company's current insurance limits? If contractor does not have a certain category of coverage listed 

below, please note none.  (provide a copy of applicant's certificate of insurance) 
 
 General Liability    $_____________ 
 Automobile Liability   $_____________ 
 Workers Compensation   $_____________ 
 Contractor’s Pollution Liability   $_____________ 
 Umbrella Liability/Excess Liability  $_____________ 
 Contractors Additional Insured Status 

- General Liability _____________ 
- Auto Liability  _____________ 

 Per Project Aggregate Limit 
- General Liability _____________ 

 Waiver of Subrogation in favor of District 
- General Liability   _____________ 
- Auto Liability    _____________ 
- Workers’ Compensation  _____________ 

 Expiration Date ______________ 

Page 132



 

 9 

 Note: Applicant must provide a certification that their insurance carrier is authorized to conduct business in Florida. Coverage 
must be provided on a primary, non-contributory basis.   

 
 
13. Has the applicant company been cited by OSHA for any job site or company office/shop safety violations in the past two 

years?  yes (  )  no (  ) 
 
 If yes, please describe each violation, fine, and resolution        
 
              
 
 13.1 What is the applicant's current worker compensation rating? ____________________________ 

Page 133



 

 10 

 
 13.2 Has the applicant company experienced any worker injuries resulting in a worker losing more than ten (10) working 

days as a result of the injury in the past two years?  yes (  )  no (  ) 
 
  If yes, please describe each incident         
 
              
 
               
 
14. Please state whether or not your company or any of its affiliates are presently barred or suspended from bidding or contracting 

on any state, local or federal-aid contracts in any state(s)?   Yes _____   No _____   If so, state the name(s) of the company(ies) 
               
        

 the state(s) where barred or suspended           
 and the period(s) of debarment or suspension         
              
  
15. What is the construction or maintenance  experience of the principal supervisory construction or maintenance personnel of 

your organization?  (Attach resumes here.) 
  

INDIVIDUAL’S
NAME 

PRESENT 
POSITION 

OR OFFICE 

MAGNITUDE 
AND TYPE OF 

WORK* 

YEARS OF 
CONSTRUCTION
/MAINTENANCE 

EXPERIENCE 

YEARS 
WITH 
FIRM 

IN WHAT 
CAPACITY? 

 
 

     

 
 

     

 
 

     

 
 

     

 
 

     

 
 

     

 
 

     

 
 

     

 
 

     

 
 

     

 
 

     

 
 

     

 
 

     

 
 

     

 
*Give in sufficient detail for the District to evaluate your experience in the classifications of work for which you are requesting 
prequalification. 
 

16. Have you ever failed to complete any work awarded to you?   Yes _____   No _____   If so, where and why?    
                                                                                               

Page 134



 

 11 

                                           
                                                      
                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                                                                  

 
17. Has any officer or partner of your organization ever been an officer, partner, or owner of some other organization that has 

failed to complete a construction or maintenance contract?   Yes _____   No _____   If so, state name of individual, other 
organization and reason therefore.                                                                                                                     

                                                    
                                              
                                            

                                                                                                
 
18.  List any and all litigation with owners or major subcontractors to which the Applicant has been a party in the last five (5) years 

and describe the outcome or resolution.  
                                                                            

                                                               
                                                   

                                                   
                                            

                                                          
 
19.  Has the Applicant or any of its affiliates ever been either disqualified or denied prequalification status by a governmental 

entity? ________  If so, discuss the circumstances surrounding such denial or disqualification as well as the date thereof.  
______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                                                 
                                                                                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                                                                    

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                
                                                                                                                                                                                    

 
20.  Within the past five (5) years, has the Applicant failed to complete a project within the scheduled contract time?  _________  If 

so, discuss the circumstances surrounding such failure to complete a project on time as well as the date thereof.  
______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                                                                 
                                                                                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                                                                    

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                
                                                                                                                                                                                    

 
21. Does the Applicant have adequate equipment to perform normal construction or maintenance operations for each class of work 

for which prequalification is sought?   Yes_____   No______  If no, please explain: 
                                                                                                                                                                                    

                                                                                                                                                                                    
 
 
 

Page 135



 

 12 

INCLUDE THE FOLLOWING INFORMATION WITH THIS APPLICATION: 
 
 

 
1. Applicants shall provide letters of recommendation from at least two agencies or firms with direct knowledge of the applicant’s 

key personnel and work performance in sufficient detail to assist in rating the applicant’s ability to perform the classification of 
work for which the applicant is applying for prequalification.  The letters must contain specific information regarding the 
following: 

 
(a) Specific projects, including project numbers and location. 
(b) Size of projects by dollar value. 
(c) Description of projects and classes of work performed with applicant’s own employees and equipment. 
(d) Whether projects were timely completed. 
(e) Whether the applicant was cooperative and facilitated changes to the project when required. 
 

 
 
 

(Continued) 

Page 136



 

 13 

 
 
Any contractor submitting a Contractor's Prequalification Statement, which in its judgment is adversely affected by the District's rating 
as to the contractor's qualifications and wishes to protest such decision must file with the District a notice of protest in writing within 
seventy-two (72) hours (excluding Saturdays, Sundays and state holidays) after receipt of the notice of the District’s ranking, and shall 
file a formal written protest within seven (7) days (including Saturdays, Sundays and state holidays) after the date of filing of the notice 
of protest.  The formal written protest shall state with particularity facts and law upon which the protest is based.  Failure to timely file 
a notice of protest or failure to timely file a formal written protest shall constitute a waiver of all further proceedings under 
Florida law and the District’s Rules of Procedure.  You may obtain a copy of the District’s Rules of Procedure by contacting the 
District Manager’s Office at 2501A Burns Road, Palm Beach Gardens, Florida 33410 . 
 
The undersigned hereby authorize(s) and request(s) any person, firm or corporation to furnish any pertinent information requested by 
the Ave Maria Stewardship Community District, or their authorized agents, deemed necessary to verify the statements made in this 
application or attachments hereto, or necessary to determine whether the Ave Maria Stewardship Community District should prequalify 
the applicant for bidding on its construction or maintenance projects, including such matters as the applicant’s ability, standing, 
integrity, quality of performance, efficiency and general reputation 
 
The Ave Maria Stewardship Community District can terminate its use of the prequalification list for bidding purposes at any time. 
 
 
        By:        
Name of Applicant Company 
 
              
        [Type Name and Title of Person Signing] 
 
 
This ________ day of ______________, 2023 
 
 
 
          (Corporate Seal) 
 
 
 
 
 
Sworn to before me this    day of    , 2023. 
 
 
 
       
Notary Public/Expiration Date 
(Seal)   
 
 
Applicant acknowledges receipt of the following addenda: 
 
Addendum No.   Date   
 
Addendum No.   Date   
 
  

Page 137



 

 14 

 
AFFIDAVIT FOR INDIVIDUAL 

 
 
 

State of   ss: 
 
County of   
 
 
 
 
    , being duly sworn, deposes and says that the  
statements and answers to the questions concerning experience contained herein are correct and true as of this date; 
and that he/she understands that intentional inclusion of false, deceptive or fraudulent statements on this application 
constitutes fraud; and, that the District considers such action on the part of the applicant to constitute good cause for 
denial, suspension or revocation of a certificate of qualification for bidding on Ave Maria Stewardship Community 
District projects. 
 
 
 
          
   Signature 
          
   Print Name 
 
 
 
 
 
Sworn to before me this ________ day of _______________, 2023. 
 
 
________     
Notary Public/Expiration Date: 
 
 
(SEAL) 
 
 

Page 138



 

 15 

 
AFFIDAVIT FOR PARTNERSHIP 

 
 
 

State of   ss: 
 
County of   
 
 
 
 
    , is a member of the firm of __________________________________, 
being duly sworn, deposes and says that the statements and answers to the questions of the foregoing experience 
questionnaire are correct and true as of the date of this affidavit; and, that he/she understands that intentional 
inclusion of false, deceptive or fraudulent statements on this application constitutes fraud; and, that the District 
considers such action on the part of the applicant to constitute good cause for denial, suspension or revocation of a 
certificate of qualification for bidding on Ave Maria Stewardship Community District projects. 
 
 
 
          
   Signature 
          
   Print Name 
 
 
 
 
Sworn to before me this ________ day of _______________, 2023. 
 
 
______     
Notary Public/Expiration Date: 
 
 
(SEAL) 
 
 
 

Page 139



 

 16 

 
AFFIDAVIT FOR CORPORATION 

 
 
 

State of    ss: 
 
County of    
 
 
 
 
             
(title)             
of the             
(a corporation described herein) being duly sworn, deposes and says that the statements and answers to the questions 
in the foregoing concerning experience are correct and true as of the date of this affidavit; and, that he/she 
understands that intentional inclusion of false, deceptive or fraudulent statements in this application constitutes 
fraud; and, that the District considers such action on the part of the applicant to constitute good cause for denial, 
suspension or revocation of a certificate of qualification for bidding on Ave Maria Stewardship Community District 
projects. 
 
 
             
      (Officer must sign here) 
            
           __________________________________________ 
      Print Name 
 
         CORPORATE SEAL 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Sworn to before me this ________ day of _______________, 2023. 
 
 
      
Notary Public/Expiration Date: 
 
 
(SEAL) 
 
 
 

Page 140



 

 17 

SWORN STATEMENT UNDER SECTION 287.133(3)(a), 
FLORIDA STATUTES, ON PUBLIC ENTITY CRIMES 

 
 
 

THIS FORM MUST BE SIGNED IN THE PRESENCE OF A NOTARY PUBLIC OR OTHER OFFICER 
AUTHORIZED TO ADMINISTER OATHS. 
 
1. This sworn statement is submitted to Ave Maria Stewardship Community District for Prequalification of 
Construction and/or Maintenance Contractors. 

 
2. This sworn statement is submitted by         
                [Print Name of Entity Submitting Sworn Statement] 
 whose business address is           
 
 and (if applicable) its Federal Employer Identification Number (FEIN) is     
 
 (If the entity has no FEIN, include the Social Security Number of the individual signing this  
 
 sworn statement:          .) 
 
3. My name is        and my relationship to the 
 
 entity named above is                     . 
 
4. I understand that a "public entity crime" as defined in Section 287.133(1)(g), Florida Statutes, means a 

violation of any state or federal law by a person with respect to and directly related to the transaction of 
business with any public entity or with an agency or political subdivision of any other state or with the 
United States, including, but not limited to, any bid or contract for goods or services to be provided to any 
public entity or an agency or political subdivision of any other state or of the United States and involving 
antitrust, fraud, theft, bribery, collusion, racketeering, conspiracy, or material misrepresentation. 

 
5. I understand that "convicted" or "conviction" as defined in Section 287.133(1)(b), Florida Statutes, means a 

finding of guilt or a conviction of a public entity crime, with or without an adjudication of guilt, in any 
federal or state trial court of record relating to charges brought by indictment or information after July 1, 
1989, as a result of jury verdict, nonjury trial, or entry of a plea of guilty or nolo contendere. 

 
6. I understand that an "affiliate" as defined in Section 287.133(1)(a), Florida Statutes, means: 
 

1.   A predecessor or successor of a person convicted of a public entity crime; or, 
 
2.   An entity under the control of any natural person who is active in the management of the entity and 

who has been convicted of a public entity crime.  The term "affiliate" includes those officers, 
directors, executives, partners, shareholders, employees, members, and agents who are active in the 
management of an affiliate.  The ownership by one person of shares constituting a controlling 
interest in another person, or a pooling of equipment or income among persons when not for fair 
market value under an arm's length agreement, shall be a prima facie case that one person controls 
another person.  A person who knowingly enters into a joint venture with a person who has been 
convicted of a public entity crime in Florida during the preceding 36 months shall be considered an 
affiliate. 

 
7. I understand that a "person" as defined in Section 287.133(1)(e), Florida Statutes, means any natural person 

or entity organized under the laws of any state or of the United States with the legal power to enter into a 
binding contract and which bids or applies to bid on contracts for the provision of goods or services let by a 
public entity, or which otherwise transacts or applies to transact business with a public entity.  The term 
"person" includes those officers, directors, executives, partners, shareholders, employees, members, and 
agents who are active in management of an entity. 

 

Page 141



 

 18 

8. Based on information and belief, the statement which I have marked below is true in relation to the entity 
submitting this sworn statement.  (Please indicate which statement applies.) 

 
  Neither the entity submitting this sworn statement, nor any officers, directors, executives, 
partners, shareholders, employees, members, or agents who are active in management of the entity, nor any 
affiliate of the entity, have been charged with and convicted of a public entity crime subsequent to July 1, 
1989. 
 
  The entity submitting this sworn statement, or one or more of the officers, directors, executives, 
partners, shareholders, employees, members or agents who are active in management of the entity or an 
affiliate of the entity, has been charged with and convicted of a public entity crime subsequent to July 1, 
1989, AND (please indicate which additional statement applies): 
 
  There has been a proceeding concerning the conviction before an Administrative Law Judge of 
the State of Florida, Division of Administrative Hearings.  The final order entered by the Administrative 
Law Judge did not place the person or affiliate on the convicted vendor list.  (Please attach a copy of the 
final order.) 
 
  The person or affiliate was placed on the convicted vendor list.  There has been a subsequent 
proceeding before an Administrative Law Judge of the State of Florida, Division of Administrative 
Hearings.  The final order entered by the Administrative Law Judge determined that it was in the public 
interest to remove the person or affiliate from the convicted vendor list.  (Please attach a copy of the final 
order.) 
 
  The person or affiliate has not been placed on the convicted vendor list.  (Please describe any 
action taken by or pending with the Florida Department of Management Services.) 

        
             
       Signature 
             
       Print Name 
       Date:       
 
STATE OF     
COUNTY OF     
 
  PERSONALLY APPEARED BEFORE ME, the undersigned authority,    
 
     who, after first being sworn by me, affixed his/her signature in the  
 (name of individual signing) 
 
space provided above on this     day of     2023. 
 
             
       NOTARY PUBLIC 
 
My commission expires: 
 

Page 142



 

 19 

AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT 

CONTRACTOR CLASSIFICATION LISTING 
 
 
1. Excavation/Earthwork 7. Stormwater Management 
  
2. Road Paving 8. Exotic Vegetation Removal 
  
3. Landscape 9. Lake and Littoral Maintenance  
  
4. Irrigation  
  
5. Hardscape  
  
6. Street Lighting 
 

 

  
  
  

 
 

Page 143



 

 20 

DETERMINATION OF QUALIFIED PROSPECTIVE BIDDER 
 
The Ave Maria Stewardship Community District ("District") is authorized to maintain a list of qualified contractors 
("Qualified Prospective Contractors") to submit bids for the procurement of District construction and maintenance 
projects.  Any Qualified Prospective Contractor desiring to submit a bid to provide work for the District must submit 
a properly completed Contractor's Prequalification Statement to the District Engineer for review and evaluation.  
Submittal of the Contractor's Prequalification Statement shall occur prior to the bidding process. 
 
The District shall evaluate the Contractor's Prequalification Statement and based on the District’s judgment of the 
information provided, shall issue in writing to the contractor, the District’s rating as to the classification(s) of the 
Work and the maximum Bid dollar amount for which the Qualified Prospective Contractor can submit a Bid to the 
District.   
 
A Qualified Prospective Contractor shall mean a prospective contractor which in the sole judgment of the District 
has the capability, in all respects, to perform fully the contract requirements, and the business integrity and 
reliability which will assure good faith performance.  In determining the Qualified Prospective Contractor's 
qualifications, the following criteria will be considered: 
 
 The ability, capacity, and skill of the contractor to perform the contract or provide the work required; 
 
 Whether the contractor can perform the contract or provide the work promptly, or within the time specified, 

without delay or interference; 
 
 The character, integrity, reputation, judgment, experience, and efficiency of the contractor; 
 
 The quality of performance of previous contract or work.  For example, the following information will be 

considered: 
 

o The cost overrun incurred by owners on previous contracts with contractor; 
 

o The contractor's compliance record with contract general conditions on other projects; 
 

o The contractor's record for completion of the work within the Contract Time or within Contract Milestones 
and contractor's compliance with scheduling and coordination requirements on other projects; 

 
o The quality, availability, and adaptability of the goods or work to the particular use required; 

 
o The contractor's demonstrated cooperation with owners, architects, engineers, and others on previous 

contracts; and;  
 
o Whether the work performed and materials furnished on other contracts were in accordance with the 

contract documents; and 
 

o Whether contractor has performed previous work for an independent special district. 
 
 The previous and existing compliance by the contractor with laws and ordinances relating to contracts or work; 
 
 The sufficiency of the financial resources and ability of the contractor to perform the contract or provide the 

work; 
 
 The ability of the contractor to fulfill its guarantee and warranty period; 
 
 Such other information as may be secured by the Board having a bearing on the decision to award a contract to 

include, but not be limited to: 
 

o The ability, experience, and commitment of the contractor to properly and reasonably plan, schedule, 
coordinate, and execute the work; and, 

Page 144



 

 21 

 
o Whether the contractor has ever been debarred from bidding or found ineligible for bidding on any other 

projects. 
 
 The District will make such inquiries and investigations as deemed necessary to verify and evaluate the 

applicant's statements regarding: 
 

o The necessary organization and management including experience possessed by the applicant's employees; 
 

o Adequate equipment, as shown on the equipment list, to perform normal operations for each class of work 
in the industry such as that called for in the contract documents in force at the time of application; 

 
If herein required, or if requested by the District at any time after the conclusion of the initial pre-qualification 
process, the Qualified Prospective Contractor shall submit a certified financial statement(s) in a form acceptable to 
the District, prepared no later than the past 180 days, indicating current financial resources, current bonding 
capacity, liabilities, capital equipment, and past financial history performance.  Based on this updated financial 
information, the District, in its sole discretion, may adjust the Qualified Prospective Contractor’s Prequalification 
contract limits or deem the Qualified Prospective Contractor no longer qualified with respect to future District 
Public Infrastructure projects.  In this instance, the Qualified Prospective Contractor acknowledges the right of the 
District to refuse acceptance of a bid from any Qualified Prospective Contractor who fails to submit to the District 
documentation that may be required by the District.  In such a case, such bid shall be rejected as non-responsive.   
 
Furthermore, a Qualified Prospective Contractor acknowledges the right of the District to determine a Qualified 
Prospective Contractor to be not qualified to submit a Bid in response to the District's Advertisement for Bids at the 
sole determination of the District for, but not necessarily limited to, any of the following specific reasons: 
 
 Failure to submit a properly completed Contractor's Prequalification Statement in accordance with the above 

requirements; 
 
 Failure of the Qualified Prospective Contractor's rating by the District as to classification of the Work and the 

maximum Bid dollar amount to meet the requirements of the Bid; 
 
 Reason to believe that collusion exists among Bidders; 
 
 Determination of lack of competency as may be revealed fby qualification statements, financial statements, 

experience records, or other sources; 
 
 The Qualified Prospective Contractor's uncompleted work load which, in the judgment of the Board, may cause 

detrimental impact on timely completion of the project being bid; or 
 
 The Qualified Prospective Contractor's Surety is unacceptable to District. 
 
 Submission of excessive or unreasonable suggested modifications to the District’s Standard Form of 

Construction or Maintenance Contract. 
 
Any contractor submitting a Contractor's Prequalification Statement, which in its judgment is adversely affected by 
the District's rating as to the contractor's qualifications and wishes to protest such decision must file with the District 
a notice of protest in writing within seventy-two (72) hours (excluding Saturdays, Sundays and state holidays) after 
receipt of the notice of the District’s ranking, and shall file a formal written protest within seven (7) days (including 
Saturdays, Sundays and state holidays) after the date of filing of the notice of protest.  The formal written protest 
shall state with particularity facts and law upon which the protest is based.  Failure to timely file a notice of 
protest or failure to timely file a formal written protest shall constitute a waiver of all further proceedings 
under Florida law and the District’s Rules of Procedure.  You may obtain a copy of the District’s Rules of 
Procedure by contacting the District Manager’s Office at 2501A Burns Road, Palm Beach Gardens, FL 33410. 
 

Page 145



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CONTRACTOR'S PREQUALIFICATION SUBMITTAL ANALYSIS 
PUBLIC INFRASTRUCTURE CONSTRUCTION AND MAINTENANCE 

SERVICES 
 

__________________, 2023 
 
 
 

Contractor:   ______________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 146



CONTRACTOR’S PREQUALIFICATION SUBMITTAL ANALYSIS 

AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT 

  2 

 
1. Were all sections of the application completed?      Y N 
 
2. Has the Bidder provided evidence of available bonding capacity of $   Y N 
 
3. Has the Bidder constructed two similar projects valued @ $  or more  Y N 
 
4. Is the Bidder incorporated in the State of Florida?       Y N 
 
5. Is the Bidder in good standing with the Florida Department of State 
 Division of Corporations?         Y N 
 
6. Date Incorporated ____________________  Charter No. ___________________________ 
 
7.  If not Florida, what state is company incorporated?  ______________________ 
 
8. Is the Bidder in good standing with that State’s Division of Corporations?   Y N 
 
9. Date Incorporated ____________________  Charter No. ___________________________ 
 
10.  Is the Bidder a registered or licensed contractor with the State of Florida?    Y N 
 
11. Is the Bidder a registered or licensed Contractor with Collier County?   Y N 
 

 12. Is the Bidder prequalified by the Florida Department of Transportation?    Y N 
  In what disciplines:_________________________________________ 
  ________________________________________________________ 
  ________________________________________________________ 
  a.  Has bidder ever been denied prequalification?     Y N 

 b.  Has bidder ever been disqualified?      Y N 
 
13. Bidders Approved Bonding Capacity: 

 Aggregate Limit:  $___________________ 
 Single Project Limit: $___________________ 
 Total Currently Bonded: $___________________ 

 
14. Bidders total value of work: 2020____________2021______________2022______________ 
 
15. Does the Bidder have a local office to handle District work?    Y N 
 
16. Has Bidder performed work for other units of local government?   Y N 
 
17. What are the Bidder's current insurance limits?  
 General Liability  $_____________ 
 Automobile Liability $_____________ 
 Workers Compensation $_____________ 
 Expiration Date  ______________ 
 
  

Page 147



CONTRACTOR’S PREQUALIFICATION SUBMITTAL ANALYSIS 

AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT 

  3 

 
18. Has the Bidder been cited by OSHA for any job site or company office/shop 
 safety violations in the past two years?        Y N 
 
19. Is the Bidder or any of its affiliates presently barred or suspended from  
 bidding or contracting on any state or federal-aid contracts in any state?   Y N 
 
20. Has the Bidder ever been debarred from bidding or found ineligible for  
 bidding on any other projects?         Y N 
 
21. Has the Bidder ever failed to complete any work awarded?    Y N 
 
22. Does the Bidder have the ability, capacity, and skill to perform the  
 District’s work?         Y N 
 
23. Has any officer or partner of the organization ever been an officer,  
 partner, or owner of some other organization that has failed to complete  
 a construction or maintenance contract?        

 Y N 
 
24. Has Bidder been involved in litigation recently?     Y N 
 
25. Has the Company or any of its affiliates ever been disqualified or  
 denied qualification by a governmental entity?     Y N 
 
26. Has Bidder ever failed to complete a project on time?     Y N 
 
27. Can the Bidder perform the District’s work in a timely manner?   Y N 
 
28. Will the Bidder's uncompleted work load, in the judgment of the  
 District Prequalification Committee, cause detrimental impact on timely  
 completion of District project?        Y N 
 
29. Is the character, integrity, reputation, judgment, experience, and efficiency  
 of the Bidder acceptable?         Y N 
 
30.  Is the Bidder's Surety acceptable to District?      Y N 
 
31.  In regard to the quality of performance of previous contract or work:   
 

a. Were any cost overruns incurred by owners on previous contracts  
 with this Bidder identified?       Y N 
 
b. Does the Bidder have the necessary organization and management including 
 construction or maintenance experience possessed by the applicant's employees?  Y N 
 
c. Has the Bidder stated he has adequate equipment to perform normal  
 construction or maintenance operations for each class of work for which  
 prequalification is sought?        Y N 
 

32. What areas of work does the Bidder qualify for?    (See Attached Listing)___________ 
 
33. Was all financial information provided in this application and  
 accompanying audited financial statements included?     Y N 
 
Attachments 
1.   Contractor Classification Listing 

Page 148



CONTRACTOR’S PREQUALIFICATION SUBMITTAL ANALYSIS 

AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT 

  4 

CONTRACTOR CLASSIFICATION LISTING 
 

 
1. Excavation/Earthwork 
 
2. Road Paving 
 
3. Landscape 
 
4. Irrigation 
 
5. Hardscape 
 
6. Street Lighting 
 
7.        Stormwater Management 
 
8.        Exotic Vegetation Removal 
 
9.        Lake and Littoral Maintenance 
 

 
 

Page 149



RESOLUTION NO. 2023-21 
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE AVE 
MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT, ESTABLISHING 
A REGULAR MEETING SCHEDULE FOR FISCAL YEAR 2023/2024 
AND SETTING THE TIME AND LOCATION OF SAID DISTRICT 
MEETINGS; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, it is necessary for the Ave Maria Stewardship Community District 

("District") to establish a regular meeting schedule for fiscal year 2023/2024; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the District has set a regular meeting schedule, 

location and time for District meetings for fiscal year 2023/2024 which is attached hereto and 

made a part hereof as Exhibit “A”. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

OF THE AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT, COLLIER 
COUNTY, FLORIDA, AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Section 1. The above recitals are hereby adopted. 

 
Section 2. The regular meeting schedule, time and location for meetings for fiscal 

year 2023/2024 which is attached hereto as Exhibit “A” is hereby adopted and authorized to be 

published. 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED this 12th day of September, 2023. 

 
 
 
ATTEST:     AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP 
      COMMUNITY DISTRICT 
 
 
 
_____________________________  ____________________________________ 
ASSISTANT SECRETARY   CHAIRMAN 
 
 

Page 150



AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT 

FISCAL YEAR 2023/2024 REGULAR MEETING SCHEDULE 
 
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Board of Supervisors of the Ave Maria Stewardship 
Community District (the “District”) will hold Regular Meetings in the Ave Maria Master 
Association located at 5080 Annunciation Circle, Suite 101, Ave Maria, Florida 34142, at 9:00 
a.m. (**unless otherwise noted**) on the following dates:  

 
October 3, 2023 

**November 7, 2023 at 6:00 p.m.** 
December 5, 2023 

**January 9, 2024 at 6:00 p.m.** 
February 6, 2024 

**March 5, 2024 at 6:00 p.m.** 
April 2, 2024 
May 7, 2024 

**June 4, 2024 at 6:00 p.m.** 
July 2, 2024 

August 6, 2024 
September 10, 2024 

   
The District will also hold meetings utilizing communications media technology through the 
following login information: 
 
Join by URL for VIDEO ACCESS at: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/84779450200 

Meeting ID:  847 7945 0200 

Join by PHONE at:  1-929-436-2866  

Meeting ID:  847 7945 0200 

 
**The November 7, 2023, January 9, 2024, March 5, 2024 and June 4, 2024 Regular Meeting 
will take place at 6:00 p.m. in the Ave Maria Master Association located at 5080 Annunciation 
Circle, Suite 101, Ave Maria, Florida 34142. 
 
The purpose of the meetings is to conduct any and all business coming before the Board.  
Meetings are open to the public and will be conducted in accordance with the provisions of 
Florida law.  Copies of the Agenda for any of the meetings may be obtained from the District’s 
website or by contacting the District Manager at (561) 630-4922 and/or toll free at 1-877-737-
4922 prior to the date of the particular meeting.   
 
From time to time one or more Supervisors may participate by telephone; therefore a speaker 
telephone will be present at the meeting location so that Supervisors may be fully informed of 
the discussions taking place.  Meetings may be continued as found necessary to a time and place 
specified on the record. 
 
If any person decides to appeal any decision made with respect to any matter considered at these 
meetings, such person will need a record of the proceedings and such person may need to insure 

Page 151



that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made at his or her own expense and which record 
includes the testimony and evidence on which the appeal is based. 
 
In accordance with the provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act, any person requiring 
special accommodations or an interpreter to participate at any of these meetings should contact 
the District Manager at (561) 630-4922 and/or toll-free at 1-877-737-4922 at least seven (7) days 
prior to the date of the particular meeting. 
 
Meetings may be cancelled from time to time without advertised notice. 
 
AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT 
 
www.avemariastewardshipcd.org 
 
PUBLISH:  NAPLES DAILY NEWS   XX/XX/XX 

Page 152



CONSIDER ACCEPTANCE OF BILL OF 
SALE FOR VEHICLES AND 

AUTHORIZING STAFF TO TAKE 
ADMINISTRATIVE ACTIONS 

FINALIZING TITLE AND INSURANCE 
 

TO BE DISTRIBUTED 
UNDER SEPARATE COVER 

Page 153



Page 154



Ability of Personnel (10 Points). 

Proposer’s Experience (10 Points). 

Understanding of Scope of Work (10 Points). 

Ability to Furnish the Required Services (10 Points). 

Price (10 Points). 

Page 155



Page 156



Page 157



Page 158



Page 159



Page 160


	Ave Maria Stewardship Community District - September 12, 2023 Regular Board Meeting & Public Hearing Book
	Agenda
	Proof of Publication
	August 1, 2023 Regular Board Meeting Minutes
	Public Hearing – Fiscal Year 2023/2024 Final Budget
	Proof of Publication
	Consider Resolution No. 2023-13 – Adopting a Fiscal Year 2023/2024 Final Budget
	Consider Resolution No. 2023-14 – Adopting an Annual Assessment Resolution for Fiscal Year 2023/2024
	Consider Resolution No. 2023-15 – Adopting a Fiscal Year 2023/2024 Master Irrigation Utility System Budget

	Public Hearing – Uniform Method
	Proof of Publication
	Consider Resolution No. 2023-16 – Adopting a Uniform Method of Collection for ExpansionArea

	Public Hearing – Amended Parking and Towing Rules
	Proof of Publication
	Consider Resolution No. 2023-17 – Adopting Amended Parking & Towing Policies

	AMSCD Projects Update
	Consider Approval of Fiscal Year 2023/2024 Developer Funding Agreement
	Consider Resolution No. 2023-18 – Ratifying Sale of Series 2023 Bonds – Phase 4 Master Improvements
	Consider Approval of Supplementary Disclosure of Public Financing
	Consider Resolution No. 2023-19 – Awarding Landscape and Irrigation Maintenance Services Contract
	Consider Approval of Amended & Restated Facility Maintenance Agreement – Ave National
	Consider Resolution No. 2023-20 – Adopting Construction and Maintenance Services
Prequalification Criteria and Procedures and  Setting a Public Hearing

	Consider Resolution No. 2023-21 – Adopting a Fiscal Year 2023/2024 Meeting Schedule
	Consider Acceptance of Bill of Sale for Vehicles and Authorizing Staff to Take Administrative Actions Finalizing Title and Insurance 

	Discussion Regarding Letter in Support of Collier Mosquito Control District Legislation
	Consider Appointment of Audit Committee & Approval of Evaluation Criteria
	Financials




